

# LUND UNIVERSITY

# Dermal absorption of chemicals and toxicity - the role of filaggrin genetics

Rietz Liljedahl, Emelie

2021

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Rietz Liljedahl, E. (2021). Dermal absorption of chemicals and toxicity - the role of filaggrin genetics. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Laboratory Medicine]. Lund University, Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors:

#### **General rights**

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors

and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

· You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain

You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

#### Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

**PO Box 117** 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

# Dermal absorption of chemicals and toxicity – the role of filaggrin genetics

EMELIE RIETZ LILJEDAHL DEPARTMENT OF LABORATORY MEDICINE | FACULTY OF MEDICINE | LUND UNIVERSITY





During a day, most people come into contact with many different chemicals via their skin, at work or through consumer products. In this thesis we investigated if genetic variation in the gene encoding the skin barrier protein filaggrin affects how much chemicals we take up through the skin, and if filaggrin genetics is associated to some systemic effects in the body related to chemical exposure.



# FACULTY OF MEDICINE

Department of Laboratory Medicine

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2021:144 ISBN 978-91-8021-151-2 ISSN 1652-8220



Dermal absorption of chemicals and toxicity – the role of filaggrin genetics

# Dermal absorption of chemicals and toxicity – the role of filaggrin genetics

Emelie Rietz Liljedahl



## DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

by due permission of the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended at The Pufendorf Institute, room 104, 10<sup>th</sup> of December, 09.00.

> *Faculty opponent* Assistant Professor Sanja Kezic

Amsterdam UMC, University of Amsterdam, Coronel Institute of Occupational Health, Amsterdam Public Health Research Institute, Amsterdam, Netherlands

Organization LUND UNIVERSITY	Document name: DOCTORAL DISSERTATION
Division of Occupational and Environmental Medicine, Department of Laboratory Medicine	Date of issue: 2021-12-10
Author: Emelie Rietz Liljedahl	Sponsoring organization

Title and subtitle Dermal absorption of chemicals and toxicity - the role of filaggrin genetics

#### Abstract

Dermal exposure to chemicals is an increasing problem, and daily we are exposed to chemicals via the skin both in our occupations and from consumer products. The skin barrier is an important protection to chemical exposure, but appr. 10% of the Scandinavian population carry loss-of-function mutations (so called null mutations) in an important skin barrier protein, filaggrin (gene name FLG), which may result in an impaired skin barrier. The copy number variation (CNV 10, 11 or 12 copies) of the repeated sequences in exon 3 of the FLG gene may also impact skin barrier function. The aim of this thesis was to investigate if genetic variation of FLG lead to an increased uptake of chemicals through the skin, and in turn, increased systemic effects, such as genotoxicity and inflammation. We used two occupational cohorts with high dermal exposure via work, consisting of hairdressers and chimney sweeps respectively, to cross-sectionally investigate associations between FLG variation and the degree of exposure and genotoxicity. Further, we performed a human exposure experiment to investigate if FLG null carriers take up more chemicals through the skin, using a PAH (pyrene), a pesticide (pyrimethanil), a UV-filter (oxybenzone), and a metal (nickel). We also investigated if the exposure during the experiment led to changes in inflammation-related proteins in blood. Among hairdressers, we found FLG null and CNV 10 to be associated with shorter telomeres than wildtype (wt) and non CNV 10 carriers. Among chimney sweeps, FLG null was also associated with shorter telomeres and more DNA methylation of CpG-site 03636183 of the lung cancer-related gene F2RL3 than among FLG wt, opposite to our hypothesis. In the human exposure experiment, we found FLG null carriers to take up the three organic chemicals through the skin with up to 80% shorter lag times than FLG wt carriers with high CNV. FLG null carriers showed two times the internal dose of pyrimethanil than wt carriers with high CNV. We found a decrease in internal dose with increasing CNV for all three organic compounds included in the study. We found an increase in inflammation-related protein expression among FLG null carriers after exposure, and a decrease among FLG wt carriers. To conclude, we have clarified that FLG null and low CNV lead to an increased uptake of three organic chemicals through the skin and that the exposure may lead to differences in systemic effects measured as expression of inflammation-related proteins in blood between FLG null and wt genotypes. Further we have found associations between FLG null and increased genotoxicity and epigenetic changes in two occupational groups with high dermal exposure. We identified low CNV as a potential susceptibility factor for increased dermal absorption. Further studies of relevant genetic susceptibility of the skin in association with dermal exposure to more diverse chemical groups is needed. Our research can be used by policy makers in the setting of limit values for existing and new chemicals in consumer products and in the working environment.

Key words: Skin barrier function, dermal exposure to chemicals, genetic susceptibility, systemic effects							
Classification system and/or index terms (if any)							
Supplementary bibliographical inform	Language: English						
<b>ISSN</b> and key title: 1652-8220, Lund Doctoral Dissertation Series 2021:14	ISBN: 978-91-8021-151-2						
Recipient's notes	Number of pages 85	Price					
	Security classification						

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

# Dermal absorption of chemicals and toxicity – the role of filaggrin genetics

Emelie Rietz Liljedahl



Coverphoto by Elisabeth Rietz and Emelie Rietz Liljedahl

Copyright Emelie Rietz Liljedahl Paper 1 © Elsevier Paper 2 © Elsevier Paper 3 © by the Authors (Publisher: Environmental Health Perspectives) Paper 4 © by the Authors (Manuscript unpublished)

Faculty of Medicine Department of Laboratory Medicine

ISBN 978-91-8021-151-2 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2021



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se MADE IN SWEDEN

Till mina föräldrar

# Table of Contents

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	.10
List of papers	12
List of papers not included in the thesis	13
Abbreviations	.14
Introduction	.15
Genetic susceptibility to chemical exposure Genetic susceptibility of the skin barrier	.15
Filaggrin and the skin barrier	.17
The skin barrier – structure and function	.17
Filaggrin loss-of-function – consequences for the skin barrier	20
Dermal chemical exposure	22
Properties of chemicals and skin that affects skin absorption Limit values for dermal exposure	.22
Toxicity of dermal chemical exposure	27
Skin toxicity	.27
Systemic toxicity	.28
inflammation	28
Aim	.31
Materials and methods	
Study design	
Study participants	33
FLG genotyping	34
Questionnaires	35
Experimental exposure situation	
Biological samples	40
Exposure assessment	.40
Toxicokinetic analysis	.41

Toxicity biomarkers	42
Telomere length, DNA-methylation and mitochondrial DNA copy	40
number	42
Vitamin D analysis	+J
	43
Statistical analysis	43
Ethical considerations	45
Main results	47
Frequency of <i>FLG</i> null and CNV	47
FLG, dermal absorption and internal dose of chemicals	48
FLG and toxicity biomarkers	50
Telomere length, DNA methylation and mitochondrial DNA	50
FLG and serum inflammation-related proteins	52
Vitamin D	53
Discussion	55
FLG polymorphism in different study groups	55
FLG polymorphism and internal dose of chemicals	56
Occupational groups	56
Exposure experiment	57
FLG polymorphism and toxicity	58
Strengths and limitations	61
Future perspectives	63
Conclusions	65
Acknowledgements	66
References	69

# Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Vi utsätts dagligen för kemikalieexponering via huden, på jobbet eller från konsumentprodukter, som kosmetik, kläder och möbler. Huden utgör en skyddande barriär mot kemikalier, mikroorganismer och UV-strålning. Huden är också viktig för att producera olika molekyler, t.ex. vitamin D. För att hudbarriären ska fungera, behöver hudcellerna proteinet filaggrin, som bland annat bidrar till cellernas form och att de håller ihop. Nedbrytningsprodukter av filaggrin bibehåller hudens fukt, vilket också är viktigt för hudbarriärens funktion. I Norra Europa är det relativt vanligt (2-11%) förekommande med variationer i DNA-sekvensen, så kallade mutationer, i filaggrin-genen som gör att filaggrinet förlorar sin funktion. Dessutom kan filaggrin-genens längd variera mellan individer och ge olika längd på filaggrinproteinet, vilket också skulle kunna påverka filaggrinets funktion. Det är dock inte klarlagt om mutationer i filaggrin eller variationer i dess längd påverkar hur mycket kemikalier som tas upp genom huden till blodcirkulationen. Det är inte heller känt om mutationsbärare får större skador av kemikalier i kroppen, såsom ökad inflammation, skador på DNA eller förändringar i metylering av DNA, så kallade epigenetiska förändringar. Skador på DNA kan uppstå i form av kortare ändar på kromosomerna, så kallade telomerer. Graden av DNA metylering styr reglering av proteiner. Både förändrade telomerer och DNA-metylering har kopplats till olika sjukdomar, däribland risk för cancer.

I denna avhandling har vi undersökt hypotesen att mutationsbärare eller bärare av korta filaggrin-gener har en försämrad barriärfunktion i huden så att de tar upp mer kemikalier, och att det i sin tur leder till en ökad inflammation i blodet och mer DNA-skada, mätt som telomerlängd och epigenetiska förändringar. Vi har undersökt detta dels i två tvärsnittsstudier av yrkesexponerade grupper, frisörer och sotare, som har hög hudexponering för kemikalier i sina yrken, dels i en experimentell studie av människor rekryterade utifrån om de var mutationsbärare samt kontroller som var icke mutationsbärare.

Våra resultat visar att mutationsbärare eller bärare av en kort filaggrin-gen bland frisörer och sotare hade kortare telomerer, än icke mutationsbärare eller med lång filaggringen. Vi har också visat att det fanns en ökad risk för metylering av tre olika gener som är viktiga för att cellerna inte ska utvecklas till cancerceller, hos mutationsbärare och bärare av korta filaggrin-gener bland frisörer och kontroller. Vi fann också att mutationsbärare bland sotare och kontroller hade mer metylering än icke mutationsbärare av en gen som vi förväntade oss finna lägre metylering av, eftersom den i lägre metyleringsgrad visats ge ökad risk för lungcancer.

Genom hudexperimentet på frivilliga försökspersoner kunde vi visa att mutationsbärare hade upp till fem gånger snabbare upptag av tre olika kemikalier genom huden, och att deras nivå av en av kemikalierna i blodet var ca två gånger högre än icke mutationsbärare med längre filaggrin-gener.

En fördel som kan komma av att vara mutationsbärare är att huden verkar kunna producera mer vitamin D vid kontakt med solljus. Detta beror på att nedbrytningsprodukterna av filaggrin verkar som kroppseget UV-filter i huden, och en minskning av funktionellt filaggrin i huden på grund av mutationen leder till mindre kroppseget UV-filter. Vi kunde visa att mutationsbärare hade högre nivåer av vitamin D i blodet, både före och efter hudexperimentet med de tre kemikalierna, än icke mutationsbärare.

Slutligen har vi visat att det efter hudexperimentet fanns skillnader i uttrycket av proteiner kopplade till inflammation, mellan mutationsbärare och icke mutationsbärare. Mutationsbärare visade högre relativa nivåer av proteiner kopplade till inflammation i blodet, och icke mutationsbärare visade lägre relativa nivåer av proteiner kopplade till inflammation i blodet, efter hudexperimentet med de tre kemikalierna.

Denna forskning är viktig för att kunna identifiera känsliga grupper i samhället så att de inte ska utsättas för höga nivåer av kemikalier på sina jobb eller genom produkter som de använder på huden. Forskningen i denna avhandling kan bidra till bestämning av lämpliga tillåtna nivåer av olika kemikalier som används av yrkesgrupper eller i konsumentprodukter.

# List of papers

- I. Rietz Liljedahl E, Wahlberg K, Lidén C, Albin M and Broberg K. 2019. Genetic variants of filaggrin are associated with occupational dermal exposure and blood DNA alterations in hairdressers. Science of the Total Environment 653:45-54
- II. Wahlberg K, Rietz Liljedahl E, Alhamdow A, Lindh C, Lidén C, Albin M, Tinnerberg H, Broberg K. 2019. Filaggrin variations are associated with PAH metabolites in urine and DNA alterations in blood. Environmental Research 177:108600
- III. Rietz Liljedahl E, Johanson G, Korres de Paula H, Faniband M, Assarsson E, Littorin M, Engfeldt M, Lidén C, Julander A, Wahlberg K, Lindh C, Broberg K. 2021. Filaggrin polymorphisms and the uptake of chemicals through the skin – a human experimental study. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 129(1):17002
- IV. Rietz Liljedahl E, Korres de Paula H, Gliga A, Engfeldt M, Julander A, Lidén C, Lindh C, Broberg K. Immune-related protein expression in blood after dermal exposure to some common chemicals depends on the *filaggrin* genotype. Manuscript in preparation.

# List of papers not included in the thesis

- I. Mörtstedt, H, Ali N, Kåredal M, Jacobsson H, **Rietz E**, Diab K, Nielsen J, Jönsson BA, Lindh C. Targeted proteomic analysis of nasal lavage fluid in persulfate-challenged hairdressers with bleaching powder-associated rhinitis. *Journal of Proteome Research* 14(2):860-873.
- II. Corrales Vargas A, Peñaloza Castañeda J, Rietz Liljedahl E, Mora AM, Menezes-Filho JA, Smith DR, Mergler D, Reich B, Giffin A, Hoppin JA, Lindh CH, van Wendel de Joode B. Exposure to commonuse pesticides, manganese, lead, and thyroid function in pregnant women from the Infant's Environmental Health Study (ISA), Costa Rica. Science of the Total Environment, article in press, available online 28 October 2021, 151288.

# Abbreviations

- AUC area under the curve
- bp base pair
- CNV copy number variation
- DNA deoxyribonucleic acid
- DOEL dermal occupational exposure limit
- ECHA European Chemicals Agency

FLG - filaggrin

GC-MS/MS - gas chromatography tandem mass spectrometry

IARC - International Agency for Research on Cancer

ICP-MS - inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry

LC-MS/MS - liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry

Log P - octanol/water partition coefficient

Null - loss-of-function

nt – nucleotide

- PAH polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons
- PCR polymerase chain reaction

RNA - ribonucleic acid

- ROS reactive oxygen species
- REACH Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction of Chemicals
- SNP single nucleotide polymorphism

wt-wildtype

# Introduction

Exposure to chemicals is inescapable for most people. We eat, inhale, work with and wear them, sometimes intentionally, but mostly unintentionally. Fortunately, we have an inherent protection against chemical exposure, our skin. The skin is the largest organ of the body and it protects against a diverse group of external threats such as cold, heat, microbes and chemicals. Still some chemicals can penetrate the skin, where they may cause skin disease, such as allergic contact dermatitis, irritant contact dermatitis, urticaria or skin cancer. If the chemicals reach the circulation, they may cause systemic effects, by production of reactive oxidative species (ROS), inducing inflammation, binding to DNA, forming DNA adducts and other mechanisms. Like chemicals, people have different properties, a result of our genetic inheritance. Individual differences in genes involved in absorption, metabolism or excretion of chemicals can make us more or less sensitive to chemical exposure. Genetic variations in genes encoding proteins involved in the skin barrier structure and function, such as filaggrin, could have the potential to make carriers more susceptible to chemical exposure, but knowledge in this area is lacking. Identifying sensitive individuals is important for making informed decisions on acceptable chemical exposure limits, and in the end, to protect the most susceptible individuals in a population.

# Genetic susceptibility to chemical exposure

We are all different. Our inheritance determines many of our characteristics (also called phenotypes), along with our environment. Sequence variation of the genetic code gives us differences in how we respond to outside stimuli, whether it is chemical (Edenberg 2007), pathological (Freeman and Milner 2020), or even musical in nature (Tan et al. 2014). This thesis focuses on genetic differences in the skin in relation to chemical exposure. Among the skin's many diverse properties are protection against infection, chemicals and trauma, water retention and pre-vitamin D3 production (Carlson 2019). The genetics of proteins expressed in the skin play a part in how well the skin protects against harmful substances, but genetic susceptibility of the skin is not very well described. Genetic susceptibility, or genetic predisposition, is the increased risk of developing a certain disease or adverse effect as a result of a given genetic variant. Examples of genetic variation are single

nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP), insertions and deletions and copy number variations (CNV). These changes in the DNA may give rise to a different variant of a protein if the exchanged base alters the amino acid of that specific genetic code. or lead to a frameshift that entirely changes the amino acid sequence if bases were inserted or deleted, or change the size of a protein if the CNV varies. Protein products from such genetic variations may be functional, but with increased or decreased activity, or they may lose their function (loss-of-function mutation), giving rise to an increased risk of disease. Polymorphisms are defined as DNA variations where the less common variant occur in more than 1% of the population. The more common variant is traditionally called the wildtype (wt). Polymorphisms can increase the risk of disease, often in combination with other factors such as lifestyle and environmental factors. Polymorphisms in genes encoding proteins involved in metabolism and excretion of xenobiotics can modify an individual's response to chemicals. An example is polymorphisms in the family of metabolic enzymes cytochromes P450, which might affect the internal dose of a chemical or drug, and in turn lead to adverse reactions or decreased drug effects, which in some cases are important for caregivers to consider when medicating patients (Meyer and Zanger 1997). This type of genetic susceptibility, where the internal dose of chemical or metabolite is affected by polymorphisms in genes encoding proteins involved in absorption, metabolism or excretion processes, is important to consider for occupational and environmental chemical exposure. Individuals carrying polymorphisms that make them more susceptible to certain types of chemical exposures are at higher risk of developing disease or adverse effects, such as the lung disease chronic beryllium disease from working with beryllium (polymorphisms in Major Histocompatibility Complex, Class II, DP Beta 1 gene, HLA-DPB1) (Richeldi et al. 1993) or bladder cancer from working with aryl amines (polymorphism in N-Acetyltransferase 2 gene, NAT2) (Christiani et al. 2008).

# Genetic susceptibility of the skin barrier

Genetic susceptibility to dermal exposure is not extensively studied. Studies on the subject include polymorphism in tumour necrosis factor  $\alpha$ -chain (gene name *TNF*). Polymorphism in *TNF* has been shown to give two different irritation thresholds for dermal exposure to benzalkonium chloride and sodium dodecyl sulphate, possibly making the individuals carrying the low threshold allele more susceptible to irritant contact dermatitis (Allen et al. 2000). Polymorphisms do not only affect the skin's susceptibility to chemicals but can also affect the protection from other exogenous factors such as sunlight. In a Spanish population, polymorphisms in melanocortin 1 receptor (*MC1R*), interferon regulatory factor 4 (*IRF4*), solute carrier family 45 member 2 (*SLC45A2*), HECT and RLD domain containing E3 ubiquitin protein ligase 2 (*HERC2*) (genes related to the development of skin cancer) were associated with increased skin sensitivity to sunlight, as assessed by questionnaires of e.g. skin type and sun exposure habits (Hernando et al. 2018).

It is important to gain knowledge about differences in dermal absorption, to be able to adequately protect the individuals with the highest uptake. New chemicals in consumer products are rapidly increasing in number (Li and Suh 2019), and occupational dermal exposure is an important exposure route, however previously often overshadowed by inhalation exposure (Boeniger 2003).

# Filaggrin and the skin barrier

# The skin barrier - structure and function

The skin is composed of three main layers, the hypodermis, dermis and epidermis (Figure 1). The hypodermis is a layer of fatty tissue and connective tissue that serves as an energy reservoir. The dermis is a layer of connective tissue supplied with blood vessels, sweat glands and nerve endings. Above the dermis is the epidermis, with Langerhans cells, melanocytes and keratinocytes. Keratinocytes are the predominate cell type in the epidermis. They are produced by stem cells in the deepest layer of the epidermis, the stratum basale. Keratinocytes migrate upwards through the four layers (five in the palm of the hands and soles of the feet, which also includes stratum lucidum beneath stratum corneum, Figure 1) of the epidermis to the skin surface over the course of 8-10 weeks in adults (Carlson 2019). While migrating, they differentiate into corneocytes (dead, flattened keratinocytes) and once at the skin surface, they fall off and are replaced by new corneocytes. Migration is faster in injured skin and in younger individuals and slows down with age (Saladin 2010).



Figure 1. Structure and cell types of the skin. (Adapted from Servier Medical Art, smart.servier.com)

Keratinocytes produce the cytoskeleton protein keratin, thereby their name. While migrating, keratinocytes flatten and produce keratin, membrane-coating granules containing lipids, and cytosolic granules containing a protein called pro-filaggrin.

Filaggrin is an important protein for skin barrier structure and function. When they reach the stratum granulosum the keratinocytes start the process of a specific form of apoptosis called cornification (Candi et al. 2005). The organelles and nucleus disappear and pro-filaggrin is released into the cytosol, which is proteolyzed into filaggrin monomers that bind the keratin filaments 1 and 10 together in strong bundles (Brown and McLean 2012). The membrane-coating vesicles release lipids extracellularly that form a protective barrier along with tight-junctions between the keratinocytes and the intracellular keratin bound together by filaggrin. Filaggrin is also integrated in the cell envelope that replaces the plasma membrane of the cornified keratinocytes, and along with other proteins act as a scaffold for the extracellular lipid layer, keeping it in place (Saladin 2010). The upper layer, the stratum corneum of the epidermis, consists of dense layers of corneocytes, with about 40 % protein content, which is mainly intracellular keratin bound together by filaggrin, 40 % water and 20 % extracellular lipids (Michaels et al. 1975). This barrier retains water in the body and prevents dehydration and absorption of penetrating substances, and it is the first line of defence against microbes and allergens. (Carlson 2019; Saladin 2010). The skin is also an important system for hormone synthesis, such as the conversion of sex steroids (Zouboulis et al. 2007) and production of pre-vitamin D3, which is produced by UVB-light photoisomerization of 7-dehydrocholesterol in the epidermis (Nemanic et al. 1983).

## Transport over the skin barrier

Even though the skin barrier protects against water loss, cold, heat, pathogens and chemical exposure, it is not a perfectly tight barrier. Chemicals can move across the stratum corneum, the layer of corneocytes, by passive diffusion, because the cells are dead and thus have no or very limited active transport systems. Diffusion through the stratum corneum is the rate limiting step in skin absorption. The rates of absorption are different depending on the properties of the chemical. Large, highly lipophilic or hydrophilic compounds diffuse very slowly, if at all, through the stratum corneum, while small moderately lipophilic compounds with some hydrophilic regions diffuse faster. Small hydrophilic compounds such as water may diffuse through the cells, whereas most other compounds diffuse intercellularly, through the lipids between the cells (Casarett 2013).

## Filaggrin – the gene and the protein

Filaggrin (37 kD, 324 amino acids [aa]) (OMIM 2021) is encoded by the gene *FLG*, which is located on chromosome 1q21.3, spanning about 23000 base pairs (bp) (UCSC 2021). *Filaggrin* is part of the epidermal differentiation complex, a complex of about 50 genes in proximity of each other, that are important for the differentiation and cornification of keratinocytes (Kypriotou et al. 2012; Volz et al. 1993). *Filaggrin* contains three exons (size exon 1: 159 nucleotides [nt], size exon 2 and 3: 12757 -14697 nt) and two introns, of which exon 2 and 3 are protein coding (OMIM 2021). Exon 3 is composed of long repetitive sequences and copy number

variations (CNV; Figure 2) of these repeats result in 10, 11 or 12 copies (referred to as CNV10, CNV11 and CNV12 in this thesis) of filaggrin monomers in the profilaggrin protein (400 kDa (Presland et al. 1992).



Figure 2. Schematic description of *FLG* and the pro-filaggrin protein, with indications of null mutations and copy number variation (CNV) in the pro-filaggrin protein. Adapted (modified colours and indicated polymorphisms) from Eaaswarkhanth et al. 2016, under license: CC BY-NC 4.0 (Eaaswarkhanth et al. 2016)

Pro-filaggrin consists of an N-terminal containing a calcium-binding domain and a B-domain containing a signal for nucleus localization, encoded by exon 2 of FLG. Upon proteolysis of pro-filaggrin into filaggrin monomers, the N-terminal domain relocates into the nucleus. An important step for the cornification of keratinocytes is enucleation (the nucleus disappears). It is hypothesized that the N-terminal domain of pro-filaggrin is important in the process of enucleation (Sandilands et al. 2009). Further, in addition to the filaggrin repeats, exon 3 also encode the Cterminus (Figure 2) which is important for pro-filaggrin proteolysis into filaggrin monomers (Sandilands et al. 2007). Once in the monomeric form, filaggrin aggregates keratin filaments 1 and 10 into tight bundles, which collapses the keratinocytes. Filaggrin is highly expressed in skin, moderately expressed in the oral, oesophageal, vaginal and tonsil mucosa, and expressed at low levels in the cervix and uterine mucosa (TheHumanProteinAtlas 2021). Previous research in vitro has indicated that pro-inflammatory cytokines, for example interleukin 17 (IL-17) and interleukin 22 (IL-22), are involved in down-regulating the expression of the FLG gene in keratinocytes (Gutowska-Owsiak et al. 2011; Gutowska-Owsiak et al. 2012) through the MAP17 protein (Noh et al. 2010). Overexpression of IL-17 and IL-22 is seen in the skin disease atopic dermatitis. Interestingly, the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AHR), a receptor that can bind small molecular weight compounds, have also been suggested to regulate FLG transcription (Furue et al. 2015).

Besides functions involved in maintaining the structure of the epidermis, filaggrin also moisturizes the skin by degradation of the filaggrin monomers into free amino acids or natural moisturizing factors (NMF) (Rawlings and Harding 2004). Filaggrin is rich in the amino acid histidine, which is metabolized into trans-urocanic acid. Pyrrolidone-5-carboxylic acid is the other main metabolite of filaggrin. These metabolites are slightly acidic and maintain the acidic pH (below pH 5) of the stratum corneum. The acidic environment has an antimicrobial effect. In addition trans-urocanic acid is a potent UV-filter (Elias and Wakefield 2011).

# Filaggrin loss-of-function – consequences for the skin barrier

## Population genetics

In Europe 7-10 % of the population carries loss-of-function mutations (also referred to as null mutations) of *FLG*. The most common mutations in Europe are SNP R501X, R2247X, S3247X and deletion 2282del4 present in repeat 1, 7 and  $8^2$ , and 1, respectively (Figure 2). The SNP all result in a premature stop codon whereas the deletion 2282del4, cause a frameshift in the translation of the RNA which also results in a stop codon. The mutations all result in a truncated pro-filaggrin, lacking the c-terminus, without which processing into filaggrin monomers is not possible. The four mutations most common in northern Europe have also been described in North American and Australian populations with European descent, with combined heterozygote frequency from 4-6% (Gao et al. 2009; Tan et al. 2012; Thyssen et al. 2014).

Null mutations in FLG is present also in Chinese, Singaporean and Japanese populations, although with other mutations than what are found in Europe (Park et al. 2015; Thyssen et al. 2014). The CNV of FLG varies in populations also where FLG mutations are not so well described, such as in African American populations (Fulton et al. 2021; Margolis et al. 2020; Quiggle et al. 2015).

## Skin barrier dysfunction

The consequence of null mutations in FLG is less or no filaggrin in the skin barrier. The skin barrier of FLG null subjects carrying two null mutations contains no or very little filaggrin (Brown and McLean 2012). This was shown by studying patients with ichthyosis vulgaris, a disease with a dry and scaly skin phenotype resulting from carrying FLG null mutations on both alleles, i.e. being a homozygote for null (Sandilands et al. 2007; Smith et al. 2006). A disorganisation of the keratin filaments and an abnormal structure of the lipid extracellular matrix was seen in punch biopsies from ichthyosis vulgaris patients, who were homozygote for one of the *FLG* mutations previously mentioned or compound heterozygote for two mutations (Gruber et al. 2011). Carriers of one *FLG* null mutation, i.e. being a heterozygote, have less filaggrin than wild-type carriers (Gruber et al. 2011) and less NMF in the skin (Kezic et al. 2008), and thus a decreased capacity for retaining water in the skin. Trans-epidermal water loss is increased in *FLG* null carriers (Kezic et al. 2008). CNV and the amount of NMF in the skin are positively associated; carriers of higher CNVs have more NMF in the skin (Brown et al. 2012).

*FLG* null is associated with skin disease, and above all atopic dermatitis. In Sweden, the lifetime prevalence of atopic dermatitis in children is around 10 % (Henriksen et al. 2015), and around 20-50% of atopic dermatitis patients carry a *FLG* null mutation (Brown and Irvine 2008). Carrying null mutations or low CNV of *FLG* has been associated with a higher risk for atopic dermatitis (Brown et al. 2012; Palmer et al. 2006). However, a recent large American study did not find a significant association between low CNV and increased atopic dermatitis risk (Fulton et al. 2021). Null mutations of *FLG* are also associated with irritant contact dermatitis (Visser et al. 2013), allergic contact sensitization (Novak et al. 2008), asthma in association with dermatitis (Chan et al. 2018; Palmer et al. 2007), allergic rhinitis (Chan et al. 2018) and food allergy (Marenholz et al. 2017; Venkataraman et al. 2014). The mechanism behind filaggrin polymorphism and allergic disease is hypothesized to result from a defective skin barrier where antigens can penetrate and interact with antigen presenting cells (McAleer and Irvine 2013).

A dysfunctional skin barrier could lead to an increased absorption of chemicals and pathogens. Previous cross-sectional research on Danish men from the general population linked FLG null mutations to increased urinary concentrations of phthalates (Joensen et al. 2014), methyl paraben and n-propyl paraben (Joensen et al. 2017).

Despite the negative consequences of a dysfunctional skin barrier, there may be an evolutionary advantage in carrying a FLG null allele. Cross-sectional studies have found higher vitamin D levels among FLG null carriers (Landeck et al. 2016; Thyssen et al. 2012; Thyssen et al. 2014), hypothetically a consequence of lower levels of the UV-filtering NMF trans-urocanic acid in the skin, permitting a higher production of pre-vitamin D3 in the skin (Thyssen and Elias 2017).

# Dermal chemical exposure

Exposure to chemicals in the workplace and through consumer products is an increasing problem. Occupational skin diseases make up 30-40% of all occupational diseases (Alfonso et al. 2017; Julander et al. 2018) and the EU estimates that 90% of all occupational skin diseases are caused by chemicals (EU-OSHA 2013). Contact dermatitis is the most common occupational skin disease in Europe, and is estimated to have an incidence of about 0.5-1.9 cases per 1000 full-time workers per year (Alfonso et al. 2017). Health care workers, hairdressers, and construction workers are among the occupational groups that are affected the most by occupational skin diseases and chemical exposure (Julander et al. 2018), but there is no universal method of determining skin exposure today (WHO 2014).

In the general population, dermal chemical exposure usually is a low dose, chronic exposure. Chemicals present in the general and home environment include preservatives (from personal care products and cleaners), organophosphate flame retardants (from furniture, stuffed toys and textiles), per- or polyfluorinated compounds (from textiles, clothes and shoes), plasticizers (from food containers and toys), pesticides (from food, gardening, pest control or nearby agricultural spraying), polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH) (from smoking, wood-burning, candle-burning and grilled food) and UV-filters such as oxybenzone (from plastic and sunscreen) (WHO 2014).

## Occupational and environmental chemicals evaluated in this thesis

This thesis includes two occupational groups with dermal exposure at work, namely hairdressers and chimney sweeps, and we have focused on their exposure to aromatic amines and PAH as they are considered to be main drivers of cancer in these occupations. Aromatic amines are a group of compounds used in hair dyes, and this thesis evaluates exposure to ortho-, para- and meta-toluidine. These chemicals have been classified as skin sensitizing, toxic, possibly carcinogenic and carcinogenic for humans (Database search 2021-09-16, www.echa.europa.eu). Exposure assessment to aromatic amines can be made by analysing haemoglobin adducts of aromatic amines in blood through gas chromatography coupled mass spectrometry (GC-MS) (Johansson et al. 2015).

Soot contains PAH, a large group of compounds present naturally in for example crude oil, but also created from incomplete combustion of biofuel and fossil fuel. Tobacco smoke and grilled food is also a source of PAH (Jansson et al. 2012). Several PAH are classified as carcinogenic, such as benzo[a]pyrene (ECHA 2021c) and benzo[a]anthracene (ECHA 2021a). Some PAH, such as benzo[a]pyrene, become carcinogenic after they have been metabolically activated into diolepoxides or quinones (Moorthy et al. 2015). Metabolites of PAH (Table 1, page 26)

are excreted in urine, and can be measured by liquid-chromatography coupled mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS). (Alhamdow et al. 2017b). The urinary metabolites are considered reliable biomarkers for estimation of occupational and environmental exposure to PAH, especially urinary 1-hydroxy-pyrene, which correlates well with total PAH exposure (Levin 1995).

## Hairdressers

Hairdressers are dermally exposed to chemicals daily. They work with oxidative hair dye, which may contain aromatic amines (Akyüz and Ata 2008) and bleaching products, which contains persulfates (Gargano et al. 2018), but also with surfactants in shampoo, and with water, so called wet work. Wet work increases the risk of irritation and sensitization of the skin (Jung et al. 2014; Nielsen et al. 2007). Daily exposure to water, surfactants and chemicals has a dehydrating effect on the skin, which may lead to a dysfunctional skin barrier.

Hairdressers have a high frequency of occupational irritant and/or allergic contact dermatitis (Lind et al. 2007). They also have an increased risk of contact urticaria (Foss-Skiftesvik et al. 2017). In addition, using gloves while working may give rise to irritant and allergic contact dermatitis, because of skin occlusion or from skin contact with the material of the glove itself (Kersh et al. 2018; Ramsing and Agner 1996). Hair bleaching products contain persulfate salts, which increase the risk of asthma and rhinitis in hairdressers (Albin et al. 2002; Foss-Skiftesvik et al. 2017; Moscato et al. 2005).

Hairdressers have an increased risk of bladder cancer (Hadkhale et al. 2016), especially if they have been working for more than 10 years (Harling et al. 2010). Cancer cases in hairdressers active prior to 1980 are attributed to carcinogenic aromatic amines being used in hair dyes, until they were banned in the late 1970:s. It is unclear whether hair dye products being produced today contain carcinogenic chemicals, but they may contain new chemicals, similar to the earlier carcinogenic aromatic amines. However, they have not yet been identified and tested. Hairdressers may still be exposed to aromatic amines such as ortho-, para- and metatoluidine, 2-, 3- and 4-ethylaniline, or 2,3- and 3,4-dimethylaniline. In a study of hairdressers' occupational exposure, more than 50% of the subjects had levels higher than the limit of detection of ortho-, para- and meta-toluidine and 2,3-dimethylaniline (Johansson et al. 2015).

In a study of the same hairdressers as in Johansson et al. 2015, genotoxicity markers and epigenetic changes among the hairdressers (n=295) were compared to controls (n=92) and the hairdressers had shorter telomeres (Li et al. 2016), the end of the chromosomes protecting the DNA (described further below). More hair waving treatments was associated with shorter telomeres in young (<32 years) hairdressers and less methylation of cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor 2A (*CDKN2A*, encoding two proteins involved in cell cycle regulation) in the entire group. Oxidative hair

dyeing and bleaching was associated with less methylation of short stature homeobox 2 (*SHOX2*, encoding a protein involved in transcription regulating). Telomere shortening and methylation of the previously mentioned genes could be involved in the development of bladder cancer.

## Chimney sweeps

Chimney sweeps are exposed to soot, solvents, metals, combustion gases and dust. Work tasks include removing soot and dust from chimney sweeps and boilers, cleaning and inspecting ventilation systems and inspecting fire safety, among others (Alhamdow 2019). Working as a chimney sweep is associated with a higher risk of cancer of the liver, lung, pleura, bladder and hematopoietic system (Hogstedt et al. 2013), as well as an increased risk of ischemic heart disease (Jansson et al. 2012). A recent study showed that chimney sweeps had less methylation of the genes encoding aryl hydrocarbon receptor repressor (AHRR) and coagulation factor II (thrombin) receptor-like 3 (F2RL3) compared with controls (Alhamdow et al. 2018). Hypomethylation of these genes have been linked to lung cancer (Fasanelli et al. 2015). Further, concentrations of proteins involved in inflammation, cell movement and migration were altered in chimney sweeps compared with controls (Alhamdow et al. 2017b; Alhamdow 2019; Alhamdow et al. 2019). This may be relevant for development of cancer and cardiovascular disease. Up to 86.7% of the Swedish chimney sweeps included (n=483) in the study by Alhamdow et al. (2017a) said they use gloves when performing soot-sweeping in private homes or industry, but they may still be exposed via skin in the face, neck and arms, as short sleeved clothes are worn in the summertime (Alhamdow et al. 2017a). In addition, the gloves used are working gloves, and not gloves designed to protect the skin from chemical exposure. Health effects such as eye and respiratory symptoms (Alhamdow et al. 2017a: Alhamdow 2019) and asthma (Li et al. 2008) have been reported among chimney sweeps, but skin diseases such as irritant or allergic contact dermatitis have not been described in chimney sweeps, despite their high dermal exposure.

## Chemicals evaluated in the dermal human exposure experiment of this thesis

In this thesis we have chosen a pesticide (pyrimethanil), a PAH (pyrene), a UVfilters (oxybenzone) and a metal (nickel) as examples of occupational and consumer's dermal exposure to chemicals to be evaluated in a dermal exposure experiment. We chose the chemicals because they are of relatively low toxicity among their respective chemical group, and because we had the analytical methods for them readily available. Moreover, their respective metabolism, except for oxybenzone, is well known. Previous human exposure experiments show that pyrimethanil and pyrene are absorbed by the skin and into the systemic circulation, metabolised into 1-hydroxy-pyrimethanil (Faniband et al. 2019) and 1-hydroxypyrene (Viau et al. 1995), and excreted in urine. Skin absorption of oxybenzone into the systemic circulation and excretion of the parent compound in urine has also been shown in an experimental setup (Morrison et al. 2017), but metabolism is less known. Exposure assessments can be made by analysis of the metabolites or parent compound in urine with LC-MS/MS. Exposure assessment to nickel can be made through tape stripping of the skin, followed by measurement of the individual tape strips with inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS) (Ahlström et al. 2019). However, the analysis of FLG and nickel penetration in skin was not a part of this thesis.

Studies of the general populations' exposure to pesticides (Baudry et al. 2019; Kim et al. 2017; Norén et al. 2020; van Wendel de Joode et al. 2014), PAH (Dodd-Butera et al. 2017; Hoseini et al. 2018; Ma et al. 2019; Orisakwe et al. 2019), oxybenzone (Han et al. 2016) and nickel (Ross-Hansen et al. 2011) show that practically all humans are exposed, via several exposure routes. Dermal exposure to these compounds, apart from occupational exposure, include for example touching soil, dust, surfaces or food contaminated with pesticides or PAH or using sunscreen or touching plastic containing oxybenzone (WHO 2014). In an American population, at least 96% of the included subjects were exposed to oxybenzone during the study period of 10 years (Han et al. 2016), which mainly can be attributed to the use of sunscreen on skin. However, dermal exposure to pyrimethanil is considered to be mainly occupational (Kittas et al. 2014).

## Properties of chemicals and skin that affects skin absorption

Different chemical properties can affect the uptake through the skin, such as the molecular size and the lipid solubility, measured by the octanol/water partition coefficient (log P) (Elias and Wakefield 2011). Generalised, a low log P gives a high hydrophilicity and low solubility in skin, a higher log P gives a higher lipophilicity and a high solubility in skin, whereas a very high log P gives a very high lipophilicity and a low solubility in skin. However, in silico predictions of skin uptake of chemicals with models based on physiochemical properties including log P are often inaccurate in the absence of experimental data (Kneuer et al. 2018). Other factors such as properties of the vehicle (e.g. pH, solvent vs water) that the chemical is dissolved in, the concentration and exposure duration also affects the uptake (Johanson and Rauma 2008; Ngo et al. 2010). Molecular size, log P, and information about what metabolites or parent compounds have been evaluated in this thesis are presented in Table 1. For compounds with qualitative skin notations and International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC)<sup>1</sup> classifications, these are also included. Chemicals without IARC classifications have not been classified regarding carcinogenicity but may still be.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The classifications are defined as follows: Group 1: carcinogenic to humans, Group 2A: probably carcinogenic to humans, Group 2B: possibly carcinogenic to humans, Group 3: not classifiable as to its carcinogenicity to humans.

Properties of the skin can also affect the uptake of chemicals. High pH, very young age and very old age, occlusion of the exposed area, damaged or atopic skin and light pigmented skin are factors generally considered to increase skin uptake (Elias and Wakefield 2011; Ngo et al. 2010).

Chemical group	Compound	Molecular weight (g/mol)	Log P <sub>o/w</sub>	Skin notation	Measured metabolite (abbreviation)	IARC classification
Aromatic amine	Meta- toluidine	107.15	1.40 <sup>2</sup>	No	Hb <sup>3</sup> -adduct (hb- meta-toluidine)	N.A.
Aromatic amine	Ortho- toluidine	107.15	1.32 <sup>2</sup> , 1.43 <sup>4</sup>	Yes	Hb-adduct (hb- ortho-toluidine)	Group 1
PAH	Pyrene	202.25	4.88 <sup>2,3</sup>	No	1-hydroxy-pyrene (1-OH-PYR)	Group 3
PAH	Phenanthrene	178.23	4.46 <sup>2</sup>	No	2-hydroxy- phenanthrene (2- OH-PH)	Group 3
PAH	Benzo[a]- pyrene	252.3	6.39 <sup>2</sup> , 6.04 <sup>3</sup>	Yes <sup>5</sup>	3-hydroxy- benzo[a]pyrene (3- OH-BaP)	Group 1
PAH	Benzo[a]- anthracene	228.3	5.61 <sup>3</sup>	Yes <sup>4</sup>	3-hydroxy- benzo[a]anthrazen e (3-OH-BaA)	Group 2B
Pesticide	Pyrimethanil	199.25	2.84 <sup>2</sup>	No	1-hydroxy- pyrimethanil	N.A <sup>6</sup> .
UV-filter	Oxybenzone	228.24	3.79 <sup>2</sup>	No	Oxybenzone	N.A.

Table 1. Summary of chemical properties, measured metabolites or parent compounds, skin notations (accompanying occupational exposure limits) and IARC classifications of chemicals included in the studies.

# Limit values for dermal exposure

Occupational chemical exposure limits (OEL) are set from combining knowledge about effects in animals at different doses, human health in relation to exposure to the compound, technical feasibility criteria, and economic criteria. Technical solutions and monetary profit is weighed against the risk of health effects in the workers, which sometimes results in keeping traditional technical solutions although they lead to a higher exposure than necessary or accepting higher risks if enough profit is made (EU-OSHA 2021). Risk assessment for dermal exposure is difficult to perform because so many different factors are involved, such as rate of absorption, skin surface area, skin integrity and relevant exposure scenarios. There are in vitro models available for researching skin absorption, where animal or human skin or synthetic material is used. Another way of predicting the absorption

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Human metabolome database (HMDB).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Haemoglobin.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> ILO International chemical safety cards (ISCS).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Exposure by all routes should be carefully controlled to levels as low as possible.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Not available (insufficient research about compound).

of a chemical is to model it, and there are several tools available today, relevant for occupational exposure (Kneuer et al. 2018). But models generally perform poorly in the absence of experimental data and predictions do not correspond well with measured data (Kneuer et al. 2018).

Dermal OEL (DOEL) have been derived only for some compounds, such as carcinogens cyclophosphamide and 4,4'-methylene dianiline (MDA), as examples of a proposed procedure (Bos et al. 1998). Instead, a qualitative skin notation (in Sweden, the letter "H", for the Swedish word "hud" meaning skin) (Johanson and Rauma 2008) supplements the OEL if the dermal exposure could contribute significantly to the total body burden of the chemical, but there is no quantitative limit for exposure. Registration, evaluation, authorization, and restriction of chemicals (REACH) legislation demands that the use of DOEL should be implemented. Further, exposure limits exist for the general population in the form of acceptable daily intake levels (ADI), but no such limit values exist for dermal exposure. However, REACH also requires implementation of derived no effect levels (DNEL) for dermal exposure to protect consumers. The basis for determining safe exposure limits are changing from animal studies towards epidemiological studies of human health in relation to chemical exposure, as more such studies are available (ECHA 2021b). More research of dermal exposure is needed to contribute to better limit values.

# Toxicity of dermal chemical exposure

# Skin toxicity

Dermal exposure to chemicals may lead to diseases of the skin. The most common disease is contact dermatitis, which is subdivided into subgroups: irritant contact dermatitis, allergic contact dermatitis, contact urticaria and protein contact dermatitis. The most common occupational skin diseases are irritant contact dermatitis and allergic contact dermatitis of the hands (Lim and Goon 2007; Lyons et al. 2013; Nettis et al. 2002; Warshaw et al. 2013; Vester et al. 2012; WHO 2014). Mechanisms are non-allergic inflammation for irritant contact dermatitis and a type IV hypersensitivity reaction for allergic contact dermatitis. The prevalence of the different types depends on the type of exposure: irritant or allergenic chemicals and wet work, which all can occur in many occupations. Furthermore, a combination of irritant contact dermatitis and allergic contact dermatitis is often seen in some occupational groups, such as hairdressers, exposed to wet work, irritants, and allergens. Distinction between irritant and allergic contact dermatitis is difficult, because of their similar clinical manifestations. Diagnostics of irritant contact dermatitis is based on a patient's history of exposure to skin irritants and patch

testing to rule out allergic contact dermatitis. Both irritant and allergic contact dermatitis contribute to a decreased function of the skin barrier. A higher frequency of irritant contact dermatitis has been found in *FLG* null carriers compared to non-carriers (de Jongh et al. 2008; Visser et al. 2013).

Dermal exposure to chemicals or radiation can give rise to cancer at the exposure site. Exposure to UV-radiation is the main risk factor for developing skin cancers, such as malignant melanoma (Chang et al. 2009), squamous cell carcinoma and basal cell carcinoma (Carøe et al. 2013) in occupational groups working outdoors (Sena et al. 2016). Higher risks for developing squamous and basal cell cancer have also been linked to exposure to non-solar sources such as pesticides, petroleum products, fiberglass dust, and dry-cleaning products (Gallagher et al. 1996), and arsenic (Cheng et al. 2016).

# Systemic toxicity

Dermal exposure can have a role for diseases in other organs than the skin. Recent research in mice has shown that dermal exposure to isocyanates determines the type of asthmatic response. Mice that were dermally sensitized with TDI had mainly a Th2-cell response after airway exposure to TDI, compared to a mixed Th1/Th2-response for mice that were exposed without prior dermal sensitization (Pollaris et al. 2019). Dermal exposure to chemicals can hypothetically also cause cancer in other parts of the body by inducing systemic genotoxicity and inflammation. However, there are often several exposure routes: inhalation, dermal and ingestion exposure, and the contribution of absorption from one route is difficult to separate from the others, making research about only dermal exposure in occupational settings in relation to cancer difficult to perform. Hence, little is known about (non-skin) cancer in relation to dermal exposure.

Further systemic effects include poisonings via skin uptake. Cases where inorganic mercury has been added to skin lightening and acne treatment creams have occurred, however it is not possible to buy such creams through regular commercial channels. The use of such creams has resulted in several cases of mercury poisonings with effects on the central nervous system (Copan et al. 2015)

# Early biomarkers of genotoxicity, epigenetic changes and inflammation

Many compounds present in industry and the general environment are known to be carcinogenic. However, cancer takes a long time to develop. Finding markers indicative of carcinogenesis that arise before cancer develops is important, because knowledge about the mechanisms behind cancer may give the chance to intervene, stop a hazardous exposure or adjust limit values. Such a marker is called a biomarker of effect, defined as: an "*indicator signalling an event or condition in a biological* 

system or sample and giving a measure of effect", and further: "a biomarker that, depending on its magnitude, can be recognized as associated with an established or possible health impairment or disease" (Nordberg et al. 2007). The biomarkers of effect used in this thesis are telomere length (a biomarker of genotoxicity), DNA methylation (a biomarker of epigenetic changes), changes in inflammation-related proteins (biomarkers of inflammation) and mitochondrial DNA copy number (a biomarker of oxidative stress and inflammation).

## Telomere length and DNA-methylation

Telomeres are the protective ends of the chromosomes, repetitive sequences of guanine-rich DNA that shorten with age, (Aubert and Lansdorp 2008) in somatic cells which lack expression of the telomere repairing enzyme telomerase (Greider and Blackburn 1985). Telomere shortening is due to the "end replication problem", where DNA polymerase cannot replicate the end of the lagging strand completely, and accordingly the telomeres shorten with each cell division (Muraki et al. 2012). The exposure to exogenous compounds can accelerate the shortening or increase the length of telomeres. Telomere aberrations have been found in buccal cells and leukocytes among patients with different cancer types, such as bladder (Broberg et al. 2005), lung (Doherty et al. 2018) and skin cancer (Srinivas et al. 2019). Shorter telomeres in blood leukocytes have been associated with exposure to copper and perfluoro-octane-sulfonic acid (PFOS) (Vriens et al. 2019), PAH (Pavanello et al. 2010), pesticides (Andreotti et al. 2015) and occupational exposure among hairdressers (Li et al. 2016). Longer telomeres have been associated with exposure to antimony and mercury (Vriens et al. 2019), arsenic (Li et al. 2012) and pesticides (different pesticides show different associations with telomere length) (Andreotti et al. 2015). It is reasonable to presume that the exposures mentioned were a combination of inhalation and dermal exposure routes, however, the authors do not evaluate or discuss this matter. Mechanisms for shortening of telomeric DNA due to exogenous exposure are proposed to be increased oxidative stress, which leads to telomeric DNA damage (Reichert and Stier 2017; von Zglinicki 2002).

Epigenetic changes, such as hypermethylation of tumour suppressor genes is another measure of early cancer-related aberrations of the DNA. Methylation of genes, specifically in the regulatory promoter region, is important for the normal function of transcription. Methyl groups are added to cytosine bases followed by a guanine, without changing the sequence, hence it is an epigenetic phenomenon. Hypermethylation of certain tumour suppressive genes are seen in some cancer types, such as lung and bladder cancer (Abbosh et al. 2008; Kneip et al. 2011), however global genome hypomethylation is generally seen in carcinogenesis (Ehrlich 2009). Changed DNA methylation patterns in leukocytes have previously been associated with exposure to pesticides (van der Plaat et al. 2018), PAH (Alhamdow et al. 2018) and occupational exposure among hairdressers (Li et al. 2016), all of which presumably include both inhalation and dermal exposure routes.

#### Mitochondrial DNA copy number

Mitochondrial DNA copy number is a proxy for damage to the mitochondrial DNA and is used as a biomarker for oxidative stress. Mitochondria produce ATP and regulate cell metabolism and apoptosis, crucial for the function of all cells in the body. Mitochondrial DNA is circular and only contains genes encoding proteins related for mitochondrial function. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) is produced as a by-product of ATP production (Ott et al. 2007). Mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) is more sensitive to oxidative stress than chromosomal DNA, since it lacks DNArepairing enzymes and is not packed on histones as chromosomal DNA, and mtDNA is therefore more exposed (Reuter et al. 2010). Mutations in mtDNA accumulate with age, probably because of the higher transcription rate than nuclear DNA and the proximity to ROS as a by-product of ATP-production (Lawless et al. 2020). The mtDNA lacks introns which means that the accumulated mutations affect the proteins to a higher extent than nuclear DNA. It has been suggested that mtDNA copy number increases as a coping mechanism to damaged DNA and mutations (Filograna et al. 2021), and both increased and decreased mtDNA copy number has been associated with increased risk for different cancer types (Filograna et al. 2021). Changes in mtDNA copy number have been found in several occupationally exposed groups, however with inconsistent results. In asphalt workers and welders (exposed to PAH and particles) mitochondrial DNA copy number was increased (Xu et al. 2017; Xu et al. 2018), but in truck drivers in Beijing (exposed to elemental carbon and particles) mitochondrial DNA copy number was decreased (Hou et al. 2013) compared with controls.

## Inflammation

Inflammation is a necessary process for normal healing and recovery of damaged tissue, but if inflammation becomes chronic it can lead to negative health effects. Acute inflammation is the immune system's response to environmental irritants, chemical exposure, pathogens, or trauma. It is characterized by swelling, redness, heat, and pain in tissues. Inflammatory stimuli lead to the activation of different inflammatory signalling pathways (such as NF-KB pathway, MAPK pathway and JAK-STAT pathway) that regulate the transcription of inflammatory cytokines, recruitment of inflammatory cells and release of inflammatory proteins in the blood (Reuter et al. 2010). Exposure to xenobiotics has been identified as an important contributor to the lifelong body burden of low-grade chronic inflammation, termed systemic chronic inflammation (Furman et al. 2019). Some chemicals, including some PAH and pesticides, can induce oxidative stress (Henkler et al. 2012) or interfere with signalling pathways of the immune system (Thompson et al. 2015), and the exposure to such chemicals is, although low grade, chronic in modern society. Systemic chronic inflammation and oxidative stress are mechanisms involved in the development of diseases such as cancer and cardiovascular disease (Reuter et al. 2010; Thompson et al. 2015), especially ischemic heart disease (Ahmed et al. 2019).

# Aim

We hypothesized that *FLG* null carriers and low CNV carriers have a higher uptake of chemicals through the skin and show a higher degree of chemical-related inflammation, genotoxicity and epigenetic changes.

The overall aim of this thesis was to clarify if FLG genetics affect the dermal uptake and internal dose of chemicals present in the work and general environments, and in turn, the degree of systemic effects of the chemicals. In this thesis, the FLGpolymorphisms FLG null and CNV have been evaluated. The specific aims were to:

- Investigate if *FLG* polymorphism influence the internal dose of aromatic amines and degree of genotoxicity and cancer-related epigenetic changes in hairdressers.
- Investigate if *FLG* polymorphism influence the internal dose of PAH and degree of genotoxicity and cancer-related epigenetic changes in chimney sweeps.
- Clarify if *FLG* polymorphism determine the internal chemical dose, via dermal absorption of a pesticide, a PAH and a UV-filter in a dermal exposure experiment.
- Investigate if the vitamin D levels and systemic inflammatory response differ depending on *FLG* polymorphism in subjects from a dermal exposure experiment.

# Materials and methods

# Study design

## Study I and II

Study I and II were cross-sectional, with exposure assessed and biological samples collected at the same time in two different occupational groups and non-exposed controls.

## Study III and IV

We first recruited from the general population according to certain criteria (described under "Study participants"). We then selected subjects for a controlled experiment with an exposure at time point 0, pre-exposure biological samples and several repeated measurements for 48 hours. In study III we used the pre-exposure and repeated urine samples. In study IV we used the pre-exposure and post-exposure serum samples.

# Study participants

## Study I

The hairdresser study was originally set up to study the hairdressers' exposure to aromatic amines and its relationship to genotoxicity (Johansson et al. 2015). We applied data from the cohort in this thesis to investigate if the genetics of the skin could modify these relationships. Hairdressers (n=292) in Scania and Stockholm, consumers of hair dye (n=32) and controls (n=60) were recruited in 2008-2009. Study participants were included if they were between 18 and 55 years of age, female and non-smoking in the last six months. Hairdressers also had to have worked as a hairdresser for the past six months. The consumers were included if they had dyed their hair every eight weeks. Controls were included if they had not used hair dye during the past year. The consumers and controls were recruited through the Lund University Hospital advertisement boards and intranet, and in Stockholm at university campuses. Participants signed an informed consent form. The study was approved by the regional ethics committee in Lund.
#### Study II

The chimney sweep cohort was originally set up to study the chimney sweeps' exposure to PAH and the relationship to genotoxicity and other early biomarkers of carcinogenesis as well as cardiovascular disease (Alhamdow et al. 2017b). We applied data from the cohort in this thesis to study the modification of skin genetics on the relationship between PAH and genotoxicity. Chimney sweeps (n=151) in southern Sweden were recruited in 2013-2015. The non-smoking control group (n=127) was recruited in 2010-2011 among workers at storage warehouses for food stores and in municipalities, without occupational exposure to PAH. More controls from the same companies (n=25) were recruited in 2015, and were included if they were smoking, to match the chimney sweeps smoking habits. Participants were male and between 19 and 66 years of age.

#### Study III

This study was designed to answer some research questions of this thesis. The study was divided in two phases. In phase I we recruited participants (n=432) in southern Sweden during spring of 2018, through university campuses in Malmö and Lund, and through a web-based meeting place for researchers and potential participants previously called "Studentkaninen". We included participants if they were non-smoking and over 18 years of age. Participants gave saliva samples from which we extracted DNA and genotyped for *FLG* null. We invited all *FLG* null carriers (n=28) to phase II. Four *FLG* null carriers declined participation because of lack of time or no interest to participate, and one did not show up for their appointment on the day of exposure, which resulted in n=23 *FLG* null carriers. We then invited sex and age matched controls (n=31) to phase II of the study. We included eight extra controls because of the risk of participants quitting the study during phase II.

#### Study IV

We used samples from the same participants as in study III for analysis of vitamin D levels. We created a subgroup for analysis of inflammatory proteins in serum, consisting of *FLG* null carriers (n=22) and *FLG* wt carriers (n=22). We excluded the extra controls, as well as one *FLG* null carrier with very few urine samples, and that individual's matched control. The choice of n=22 was due to limited funding.

### FLG genotyping

#### Study I, II

DNA was extracted from whole blood in study I, and from whole blood or saliva in study II. DNA quantity and purity were analyzed by NanoDrop ND-1000 spectrophotometer. We used the extracted DNA to identify *FLG* SNP R501X,

R2447X, and S3247X and the deletion 2282del4 using a real time polymerase chain reaction (PCR). We evaluated the PCR results by sequence detection system software. We determined CNV by long range PCR. We visually evaluated results from long range PCR after gel-electrophoresis of PCR products. Six different combinations exist: 10/10, 10/11, 10/12, 11/11, 11/12 or 12/12. In the chimney sweep study, results from the long range PCR were of too low quality to visually determine genotype. Instead, we performed a Taqman-based genotyping on a quantitative PCR (qPCR) system to confirm the presence or absence of CNV12 (the method used is not able to discriminate between CNV10 and CNV11). We confirmed the presence of CNV12 using the same method also in study I.

#### Study III and IV

We performed the same procedure as described above to identify FLG null mutations and determine CNV. For study III we combined the FLG genotype with CNV to create a genetic score. The total CNV was calculated for each participant. For example, carriers of CNV 12/12 were assigned a total CNV of 24, while CNV 10/10 carriers were assigned a total CNV of 20. Carriers of FLG null were grouped together irrespective of their CNV, while FLG wt were divided into two groups, low CNV (CNV total 20-22) and high CNV (CNV total 23-24). We created the score because we hypothesized that the total amount of filaggrin in the skin determines the function of the skin barrier. With the score we could not only compare FLG null carriers to wt carriers, but also compare different CNV groups among wt carriers.

### Questionnaires

#### Study I

Questions addressed only to hairdressers regarded work tasks, glove use for different work tasks and working years to identify exposure to aromatic amines and persulfate salts. Further, the hairdressers were asked health related questions to identify symptoms, such as rhinitis and eczema, from occupational chemical exposure. Hairdressers, consumers and controls were asked questions about their level of education, residency, exposure to passive smoking, previous work and hobbies, to identify possible exposure relevant to the study.

#### Study II

Chimney sweeps and controls were asked about their age, education, history of heart disease and cancer, snuff use and smoking habits, exposure to passive smoking, physical activity, residence, employment history and hobbies with potential PAH exposure. Chimney sweeps were asked about their work tasks and glove use performing different work tasks, both historically and during the past 12 months.

#### Study III and IV

We sent a questionnaire in Swedish to study participants along with a saliva sampling kit during phase I of study III. The questionnaire was designed to identify smokers and nickel allergic participants. If self-diagnosed nickel allergy was reported, we did not expose the study participant to nickel during phase II.

We gave participants a second questionnaire (Table 2) on the day of exposure. Question 1-8 were based on questions and response alternatives from the Nordic Occupational Skin Questionnaire (NOSQ 2002) (Susitaival et al. 2003).

 Table 2. Questionnaire (originally in Swedish, translated by the author) regarding symptoms and diseases of atopic nature and exposure to PAH, pyrimethanil, oxybenzone and toluidine.

Questionaire 2	No	Yes	Do not know
1. Have you ever had an itchy rash that has been coming and going for at least 6 months, and at some time has affected skin creases?			
2. Have you ever had "hay fever" or other symptoms of nasal allergy, e.g. from pollens or animals?			
3. Have your eyes ever shown allergic symptoms, e.g. from pollens or animals?			
	No	Yes	
4. Have you ever had asthma			
4.1 If yes, did a physician diagnose it?			
	Free text answ	wer	
4.1.2 If yes, what year?			
	No	Yes	
5. Have you ever had hand eczema?			
5.1 If yes, did a physician test you?			
6. Have you ever had eczema on your wristsforearms (excluding fronts of elbows)?			
6.1 If yes, did a physician test you?			
7. Do you have dry skin?			
8. Have you had childhood eczema?			
9. Are you allergic to nickel?			
10. Have you used sunscreen the last days?			
	Free text answ	wer	
10.1 If yes, when?			
	No	Yes	
11. Have you ever had skin reactions to sunscreen?			
12. Have you ever had a temporary tattoo?			

12.1 If yes have you ever had					
skin reactions to a temporary tattoo?					
	No	Yes	Yes, but not a	II days (party sm	oker)
13. Do you smoke?					
	No	Yes			
14. Have you smoked before?					
!5. Do you use snuff?					
16. Are you exposed to passive smoking?					
17. Have you eaten grilled meat or vegetables the last two days?					
18. Have you eaten apples, strawberries or grapes the last two days?					
19. Do you use a stove or fireplace at home?					
	Free text ans	wer			
19.1 If yes, how often do you use it (number of fires/month)					
	Free text ans	wer			
19.2 When did you last use it?					
	No	Yes			
20. Have you inhaled smoke from an open fire during the last 24 hours?					
21. Are you exposed to vehicle exhaust in your spare time?					
	Free text ans	wer			
21.1 If yes, describe your exposure	Free text ans	wer			
21.1 If yes, describe your exposure	Free text answ 0-1 vehicle/min	ver 2-5 vehicle/min	6-10 vehicle/min	More than 10 vehicle/min	l can't see a street
21.1 If yes, describe your exposure 22. What is the intensity of traffic in the largest street you can see from a window in your house?	Free text answ 0-1 vehicle/min	2-5 vehicle/min	6-10 vehicle/min	More than 10 vehicle/min	l can't see a street
21.1 If yes, describe your exposure 22. What is the intensity of traffic in the largest street you can see from a window in your house?	Free text answ 0-1 vehicle/min 0-30 min	2-5 vehicle/min 30-60 min	6-10 vehicle/min 1-2 hours	More than 10 vehicle/min More than 2 ho	l can't see a street
21.1 If yes, describe your exposure 22. What is the intensity of traffic in the largest street you can see from a window in your house? 23. What amount of time do you spend outdoors in traffic each day?	Free text answ 0-1 vehicle/min 0-30 min	2-5 vehicle/min 30-60 min	6-10 vehicle/min 1-2 hours	More than 10 vehicle/min More than 2 ho	I can't see a street
21.1 If yes, describe your exposure 22. What is the intensity of traffic in the largest street you can see from a window in your house? 23. What amount of time do you spend outdoors in traffic each day?	Free text answ 0-1 vehicle/min 0-30 min Free text answ	2-5 vehicle/min 30-60 min wer	6-10 vehicle/min 1-2 hours	More than 10 vehicle/min More than 2 ho	I can't see a street urs
21.1 If yes, describe your exposure 22. What is the intensity of traffic in the largest street you can see from a window in your house? 23. What amount of time do you spend outdoors in traffic each day? 24. What is your occupation?	Free text answ 0-1 vehicle/min 0-30 min Free text answ	2-5 vehicle/min 30-60 min wer	6-10 vehicle/min 1-2 hours	More than 10 vehicle/min More than 2 ho	l can't see a street
<ul> <li>21.1 If yes, describe your exposure</li> <li>22. What is the intensity of traffic in the largest street you can see from a window in your house?</li> <li>23. What amount of time do you spend outdoors in traffic each day?</li> <li>24. What is your occupation?</li> </ul>	Free text answ 0-1 vehicle/min 0-30 min Free text answ No	2-5 vehicle/min 30-60 min wer Yes	6-10 vehicle/min 1-2 hours	More than 10 vehicle/min More than 2 ho	l can't see a street urs
<ul> <li>21.1 If yes, describe your exposure</li> <li>22. What is the intensity of traffic in the largest street you can see from a window in your house?</li> <li>23. What amount of time do you spend outdoors in traffic each day?</li> <li>24. What is your occupation?</li> <li>25. Do you have an airway infection or other disease?</li> </ul>	Free text answ 0-1 vehicle/min 0-30 min Free text answ No	2-5 vehicle/min 30-60 min wer Yes	6-10 vehicle/min 1-2 hours	More than 10 vehicle/min More than 2 ho	I can't see a street
<ul> <li>21.1 If yes, describe your exposure</li> <li>22. What is the intensity of traffic in the largest street you can see from a window in your house?</li> <li>23. What amount of time do you spend outdoors in traffic each day?</li> <li>24. What is your occupation?</li> <li>25. Do you have an airway infection or other disease?</li> </ul>	Free text answ 0-1 vehicle/min 0-30 min Free text answ No Free text answ	2-5 vehicle/min 30-60 min wer Yes	6-10 vehicle/min 1-2 hours	More than 10 vehicle/min More than 2 ho	I can't see a street
<ul> <li>21.1 If yes, describe your exposure</li> <li>22. What is the intensity of traffic in the largest street you can see from a window in your house?</li> <li>23. What amount of time do you spend outdoors in traffic each day?</li> <li>24. What is your occupation?</li> <li>25. Do you have an airway infection or other disease?</li> <li>25.1 If yes, what disease?</li> </ul>	Free text answ 0-1 vehicle/min 0-30 min Free text answ No Free text answ	2-5 vehicle/min 30-60 min wer Yes wer	6-10 vehicle/min 1-2 hours	More than 10 vehicle/min More than 2 ho	l can't see a street
<ul> <li>21.1 If yes, describe your exposure</li> <li>22. What is the intensity of traffic in the largest street you can see from a window in your house?</li> <li>23. What amount of time do you spend outdoors in traffic each day?</li> <li>24. What is your occupation?</li> <li>25. Do you have an airway infection or other disease?</li> <li>25.1 If yes, what disease?</li> </ul>	Free text answ 0-1 vehicle/min 0-30 min Free text answ No Free text answ No	Ver 2-5 vehicle/min 30-60 min Ver Yes Ves	6-10 vehicle/min 1-2 hours	More than 10 vehicle/min More than 2 ho	I can't see a street
21.1 If yes, describe your exposure 22. What is the intensity of traffic in the largest street you can see from a window in your house? 23. What amount of time do you spend outdoors in traffic each day? 24. What is your occupation? 25. Do you have an airway infection or other disease? 25.1 If yes, what disease? 26. Have you taiken any medication the last 24 hours?	Free text answ 0-1 vehicle/min 0-30 min Free text answ No Free text answ No	Ver 2-5 vehicle/min 30-60 min Wer Yes Ves	6-10 vehicle/min 1-2 hours	More than 10 vehicle/min More than 2 ho	I can't see a street
21.1 If yes, describe your         exposure         22. What is the intensity of traffic in the largest street you can see from a window in your house?         23. What amount of time do you spend outdoors in traffic each day?         24. What is your occupation?         25. Do you have an airway infection or other disease?         25.1 If yes, what disease?         26. Have you taiken any medication the last 24 hours?	Free text answ 0-1 vehicle/min 0-30 min Free text answ No Free text answ No	Ver 2-5 vehicle/min 30-60 min Ver Yes Ves Ves	6-10 vehicle/min 1-2 hours	More than 10 vehicle/min More than 2 ho	I can't see a street
21.1 If yes, describe your         exposure         22. What is the intensity of traffic in the largest street you can see from a window in your house?         23. What amount of time do you spend outdoors in traffic each day?         24. What is your occupation?         25. Do you have an airway infection or other disease?         25.1 If yes, what disease?         26. Have you taiken any medication the last 24 hours?         26.1 If yes, what medication?	Free text answ 0-1 vehicle/min 0-30 min Free text answ No Free text answ No	Ver 2-5 vehicle/min 30-60 min Ver Yes Ves Ves Ves Ves Ves Ves	6-10 vehicle/min 1-2 hours	More than 10 vehicle/min More than 2 ho	I can't see a street
21.1 If yes, describe your         exposure         22. What is the intensity of traffic in the largest street you can see from a window in your house?         23. What amount of time do you spend outdoors in traffic each day?         24. What is your occupation?         25. Do you have an airway infection or other disease?         25.1 If yes, what disease?         26. Have you taiken any medication the last 24 hours?         26.1 If yes, what medication?	Free text answ 0-1 vehicle/min 0-30 min Free text answ No Free text answ No Free text answ Free text answ Free text answ	Ver  2-5 vehicle/min  30-60 min  Wer  Yes  Ves  Wer  Wer	6-10 vehicle/min 1-2 hours	More than 10 vehicle/min More than 2 ho	I can't see a street

One part of the questionnaire was designed to explore the participants' medical history of atopic nature, regarding allergies, asthma, and dermatological conditions and symptoms, to be able to associate these symptoms and diseases to the *FLG* genotype. The other part was designed to identify exposure to potential sources of PAH, pyrimethanil, oxybenzone and toluene-2,5-diamine in their daily routines and during the days prior to the experiment. We originally planned that toluene-2,5-diamine be part of the exposure, but it was exchanged to oxybenzone due to issues with solubility in the pilot study.

### Experimental exposure situation

#### Study III and IV

We wanted to avoid background exposure to the pyrimethanil, PAH and oxybenzone. We instructed participants not to include any apples, grapes or strawberries in their diet, not to eat grilled food or smoke cigarettes, and to avoid skin moisturizers and sunscreen for two days prior and two days after the exposure experiment. We exposed participants to the same dose (Table 3, solutions, concentrations, and area), spread out over the areas pictured in Figure 3.

Chemical	Solution	Concentration (mg/mL)	Area on skin (cm)
Pyrimethanil	Ethanol	23.5	5x5
Oxybenzone	1:1 Ethanol:acetone	5	5x5
Pyrene	Ethanol	23.5	5x10
Nickel	1:1 1% HNO₃:ethanol	4	2x2

Table 3. List of chemcials used in the exposure experiment and their concentrations and solutions.

We covered the arms with aluminium foil and mefix tape, or a weighing boat for nickel exposure. We stopped the exposure for nickel during one week because of skin reactions from four participants. We decided to continue with an open nickel exposure instead of an occluded (Figure 4), which resulted in different exposure conditions for nickel exposed participants, which are discussed later.

The exposure lasted for 4 hours. Meanwhile, the participants answered the questionnaire, rested, and were allowed to drink water, coffee, tea and hot chocolate. We stopped the exposure after 4 hours by removing the aluminium foil and washing the exposed area three times with ethanol, and took photographs of the arms, whereafter the participants themselves washed with soap and water. The nickel exposed area was tape stripped after exposure (results are not within the scope of this thesis) and then washed with soap and water.



Figure 3. Arms with markings of the exposed areas, including chemicals used and their molecular structure.



Figur 4. Exposed areas of oxybenzone (occluded exposure, upper left arm), nickel (open exposure, lower left arm), pyrimethanil (occluded exposure, upper right arm), and pyrene (occluded exposure, lower right arm).

### **Biological samples**

#### Study I

Venous non-fasting blood samples were collected from all hairdressers, consumers, and controls for analysis of haemoglobin (hb)-aromatic amine adducts and DNA extraction. Haemoglobin-aromatic amine adducts reflect the exposure the past three to four months, the duration of a red blood cells life cycle. Samples were stored at - 20 °C until analysis.

#### Study II

Post shift venous non-fasting blood and spot urine samples were collected from chimney sweeps and controls, mid-shift in the middle of the week for DNA extraction and PAH analysis. For those not wanting to give a blood sample, a saliva sample was taken. Samples were stored at -20  $^{\circ}$ C until analysis.

#### Study III and IV

Before the exposure started the participants collected a full void urine sample and gave venous non-fasting blood samples for chemical metabolite analysis, DNA extraction and measurement of inflammatory proteins and vitamin D. We took blood samples again immediately after the participants had washed their arms after the exposure. We tape stripped the nickel exposed area using 10 individual tapes (results are not included in the thesis). The participants collected full urine voids for 48 hours after the exposure. We centrifuged blood samples and separated them for serum 20-30 minutes after collection. Urine samples were kept in a cooler bag at the participants' homes during the 48-hour sampling period, and then immediately dropped off at the lab. We measured urine samples for volume and density. We took an aliquot (10 mL) for metabolite or parent compound analysis and the remainder was discarded. Samples were stored at -20 °C until analysis.

### Exposure assessment

#### Study I

Hb-adducts were analysed for eight selected aromatic amines previously, in blood samples from hairdressers, consumers and controls using gas-chromatography tandem mass spectrometry (GC-MS/MS) (Johansson et al. 2015). We only included meta- and ortho-toluidine adducts in this thesis, as they were the only ones showing associations with the hairdressers' work tasks (an increase in concentration with weekly number of hair waving and permanent hair dye treatment) in the previous study (Johansson et al. 2015).

#### Study II

Metabolites of PAH pyrene (Table 1), phenanthrene, benzo[a]pyrene, and benzo[a]anthracene were analysed previously (Alhamdow et al. 2018) in urine from chimney sweeps and controls using liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS).

#### Study III and IV

We analysed metabolites of pyrimethanil, pyrene and oxybenzone (Table 1) in urine samples using LC-MS/MS. We used a QTRAP 5500 in positive ionization mode to analyse 1-hydroxy-pyrimethanil and oxybenzone and a QTRAP 6500+ in negative ionization mode to analyse 1-hydroxy-pyrene. We analysed samples in duplicates in 20 batches. We included quality controls, chemical blanks and calibration standards in each batch. We calculated between-batch precision by comparing duplicate analyses, and the coefficients of variation for the methods were between 4% and 13%. The excretion rate (nmol/h) was calculated and used in toxicokinetic modelling. Nickel concentrations in tapes 1-10 were measured by inductively coupled plasma (ICP)-MS. However, results from the nickel analysis are outside the scope of this thesis, and is presented in Julander et al. 2021 (submitted manuscript)

### Toxicokinetic analysis

#### Study III

We calculated the area under the excretion rate curve (AUC) for 0-40 hours, using the trapezoid rule (Gabrielsson and Weiner 2012), and used as a proxy for internal dose. We used the software monolix (Lixoft, France) for population toxicokinetic analysis. We used a structural model representing three compartments – skin, and central and peripheral compartments. We included the genetics of *FLG* (*FLG* null/*FLG* wt and *FLG* null/*FLG* wt CNV20-22/*FLG* wt CNV23-24) as categorical covariates in the software's integrated statistical model that was used to estimate the lag time (the time it takes for a chemical to penetrate the skin) and rate constant for skin absorption based on the structural model. Input data was urine excretion rate (nmol/h), mid-time point of urine samples (h) and the exposure dose of pyrimethanil, pyrene or oxybenzone, and *FLG* genetics.

### Toxicity biomarkers

# Telomere length, DNA-methylation and mitochondrial DNA copy number

#### Study I

Relative telomere length in whole blood was determined previously (Li et al. 2016). Haemoglobin beta chain (*HBB*) was used as a reference gene. Two separate runs, with samples in triplicates, were performed on a qPCR, one targeting telomere repeats and one targeting *HBB*. Copy number of telomere repeats and *HBB* were calculated relative to a standard curve of genomic DNA. Relative telomere length was calculated as telomere product/*HBB* product.

Methylation-sensitive high resolution-melting (MS-HRM) analysis was performed previously (Li et al. 2016) for 11 selected genes found to be hypermethylated in blood leukocytes or tumour tissue of bladder or lung cancer patients. The genes were adenomatous polyposis coli (*APC*), cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 2A (*CDKN2A*), death associated protein kinase 1 (*DAPK1*), docking protein 1 (*DOK1*), glutathione S transferase pi 1 (*GSTP1*), O-6-methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase (*MGMT*), POU class 4 homeobox 2 (*POU4F2*), Ras association (*RalGDS/AF-6*) domain family member 1A (*RASSF1A*), runt related transcription factor 3 (*RUNX3*), short stature homeobox 2 (*SHOX2*) and twist family basic helix-loop-helix transcription factor 1 (*TWIST1*). Samples were run on a qPCR. Results were divided in methylated (>0 % methylation) or non-methylated because of low DNA methylation levels overall.

#### Study II

Relative telomere length analysis was performed previously (Alhamdow et al. 2018) on a qPCR system as described for study I. Relative mtDNA copy number was also analysed previously (Alhamdow et al. 2018), similarly to the relative telomere length in two separate runs, one targeting mtDNA and one targeting *HBB* as described in Xu et al. (2017). Standard curves of genomic DNA were used to calculate copy number of mtDNA and *HBB*. Relative mtDNA copy number was calculated as the ratio between mtDNA and *HBB* copy number. DNA methylation analysis of *AHRR* and *F2RL3* was performed previously (Alhamdow et al. 2018). Three CpG sites (referred to as CpG1, 2 and 3) were included for *AHRR* and two CpG-sites (referred to as CpG1 and 2) for *F2RL3*, some of which have previously been associated with smoking and lung cancer (*AHRR* CpG3 and *F2RL3* CpG2) (Baglietto et al. 2017; Fasanelli et al. 2015; Hossain et al. 2015).

#### **Inflammatory proteins**

#### Study IV

We analysed levels of 92 inflammatory proteins in pre-exposure and post-exposure serum from the exposure experiment in study III (*FLG* null n=22, *FLG* wt n=22). Serum was pipetted into a 96-well plate, sealed, and shipped to OLINK proteomics, Uppsala, Sweden for analysis using proximity extension assay (PEA) technology. PEA utilises antibody pairs labelled with oligonucleotides that hybridise in close proximity of each other and then amplified by DNA polymerase to produce a protein specific DNA-barcode, which is quantified. The results were used to compare the relative levels of inflammatory proteins before and after the dermal exposure between *FLG* null and wt carriers. The results were also used to perform Ingenuity Pathway Analysis (IPA) to predict possible signalling pathways and cellular functions that the proteins may be part of.

### Vitamin D analysis

#### Study IV

We analysed the metabolite of pre-vitamin D3, 25-hydroxy-vitamin-D3 (25(OH)D3 in pre and post exposure serum samples from *FLG* null (n=23) carriers and wt (n=31) carriers using LC-MS/MS. We used a QTRAP 6500+ in positive ionization mode and analysed quality control samples in all analytical batches. The coefficient of variation for the method was between 7-10%.

### Statistical analysis

#### Study I

We compared FLG null heterozygote and CNV10 genotype frequencies between the hairdresser and control groups using the Pearson's Chi-square test. Many individuals had levels below the limit of detection for hb-o-toluidine: n(hairdressers)=135, n(controls)=45. Hence, we used hb-adducts of o-toluidine (median:0.018 ng/g hb) and m-toluidine (median:0.18 ng/g hb) as dichotomous variables, with the median as cutoff. We used logistic regression to analyse associations between FLG null or CNV10 and hb-adducts. We performed unadjusted, age-adjusted and fully adjusted analysis (age, passive smoking, residence and education). Telomere length was used as a continuous variable. We analysed associations between FLG null or CNV10 and telomere length using linear regression. We used DNA methylation of individual genes as a dichotomous variable; non-methylated or methylated. Categorizations for DNA methylation index were: low ( $\leq 1$  gene methylated), medium (2 genes methylated) and high ( $\geq 3$  genes methylated). We used logistic and ordinal regression to analyse associations between *FLG* null or CNV10 and DNA methylation of individual genes and DNA methylation index, respectively. We performed unadjusted, age-adjusted and fully adjusted analysis (age, passive smoking, residence and education) for both telomere length and DNA methylation.

#### Study II

We compared frequencies of FLG null and CNV12 between chimney sweep and control groups using Pearson's chi-square test. We used urinary PAH levels as continuous variables and after natural logarithm (ln) transformation they were approximately normally distributed. We divided chimney sweeps in exposure groups of high (>50 % of the time working with soot sweeping within the last 12 months) and low (<50 % of the time working with soot sweeping within the last 12 months) exposure groups. We chose linear regression to analyse associations between FLG null or CNV12 and urinary PAH metabolites. We evaluated unadjusted and adjusted models (age, BMI and smoking). Telomere length and DNA methylation were used as continuous variables. We chose linear regression to analyse associations between FLG null or CNV12 and telomere length or DNA methylation. Study group (chimney sweep/control), age and smoking were included as adjustment.

#### Study III

We divided the wt carriers based on their total CNV, as described under *Toxicokinetic analysis*. We log-transformed the  $AUC_{(0-40h)}$  for pyrimethanil, oxybenzone and pyrene to improve normality and compared differences between *FLG* and CNV genotypes in log  $AUC_{(0-40h)}$  using ANOVA. We transformed the arithmetic mean and confidence intervals of logarithmic  $AUC_{(0-40h)}$  values into linear values to generate the geometric mean and confidence intervals. We tested differences based on *FLG* and CNV genetics for the estimated lag times and absorption rate constants for the three chemicals using the built in statistical model in Monolix, by ANOVA.

#### Study IV

We excluded 12 of the 92 measured inflammation-related serum proteins due to too low levels (>25% of values below LOD), as recommended by OLINK. All protein concentrations were relative values, Normalized Protein eXpression (NPX), on a log<sup>2</sup> scale, and were transformed to linear NPX ( $2^{(NPX)}$ ) for further calculations. We compared post- *vs* pre-exposure protein concentrations within *FLG* null and wt genotypes using paired samples Wilcoxon signed rank test. We used the Benjamini Hochberg procedure to adjust for multiple testing, at the 0.05 false discovery rate level, and transformed *P*-values into adjusted *P*-values. We compared the median difference in post- vs pre-exposure protein concentrations between FLG null and wt genotypes using the Mann-Whitney U-test. We analysed differences in post-vs pre-exposure vitamin D concentrations within FLG null and wt carriers using paired samples Wilcoxon signed rank test. We compared the pre-exposure and the post-exposure vitamin D levels between FLG null and wt carriers using a Mann Whitney U test, and between FLG null and low and high CNV using a Kruskal Wallis test. We compared the difference in post-vs pre-exposure concentrations between FLG null and wt genotypes using the Mann-Whitney U-test.

### Ethical considerations

All studies included in this thesis have ethical permission from the Regional Ethics Committee in Lund, Sweden. We gave all participants information about the purpose and process of the studies. We informed them that they had the right to withdraw their participation at any point during the study. We informed participants about what type of samples would be collected and how samples along with personal data would be stored. Genetic information is sensitive data and can seem threatening for participants to share with researchers, so we store our data in a secure system with two-way authentication to which access is only granted for researchers actively working with the project in our lab. We further informed participants that research results would be presented on a group level. Written informed consent was provided from each participant.

After each study results were reported back to the participants. In study I and II participants were given the main results of the studies regarding exposure and risk of cancer and cardiovascular disease (only chimney sweeps). For study III, we sent a summary of the study (a press-release) and a link to the published article.

A physician has been involved in all studies, in case of injury during sampling or if a participant in study I and II showed signs of an occupational disease. In study III a physician was present in case of injury or a reaction to the exposure. If an occupational disease or a reaction to the exposure was discovered, we offered participants a referral to occupational health care or a dermatology clinic.

## Main results

### Frequency of FLG null and CNV

Frequencies of FLG null and CNV, and how CNV was reported in the studies differ. A summary of the combined heterozygote FLG null frequency for the four mutations included and CNV genotype frequencies is presented in Table 4 for study I-III.

Study	Group	FLG null (%)	Group	CNV 10/10 (%)	CNV 10/11 (%)	CNV 11/11 (%)	CNV 10/12 (%)	CNV 11/12 (%)	CNV 12/12 (%)
1	Hairdressers ( <i>n</i> =295)	12 (4.1%)	FLG null	2 (16.7)	4 (33.3)	5 (41.7)	1 8.3)	0	0
			FLG wt	15 (5.4)	72 (26)	93 (33.6)	30 (10.8)	49 (17.7)	13 (4.7)
	Controls <sup>7</sup> ( <i>n</i> =92)	7 (7.6%)	FLG null	3 (42.9)	2 (28.6)	1 (14.3)	1 (14.3)	0	0
			FLG wt	10 (11.9)	31 (36.9)	21 (25.0)	5 (6.0)	12 (14.3)	5 (6.0)
11 <sup>8</sup>	Chimney	13	FLG null	10 (76.9)			1 (7.7)		
	Sweeps ( <i>n</i> =151)	(8.6%)	FLG wt	94 (68.1)			41 (29.7)		
	Controls	18	FLG null	17 (94.4)			1 (5.6)		
	( <i>n</i> =152)	(11.8%)	FLG wt	101(75.4)			29 (21.6)		
111	Phase I participants	28 (6.5%)	<i>FLG</i> null, phase II	4 (17.4)	8 (34.8)	5 (21.7)	1 (4.3)	4 (17.4)	1 (4.3)
	( <i>n</i> =432)		<i>FLG</i> wt, phase II	2 (6.5)	5 (16.1)	11 (35.5)	2 (6.5)	5 (16.1)	3 (9.7)

Table 4. Frequencies of FLG null and CNV in the studies

#### Study I

We found that hairdressers had a non-significantly lower *FLG* null frequency (4.1%; Table 4) than the control group (7.6 % P=0.18). Further, we found that hairdressers had a significantly lower frequency of CNV10 (43.2 %) than controls (56 %, P=0.0032).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Includes both consumers and controls

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Quality of DNA too low to determine CNV genotype by long range PCR alone. A combination of qPCR and long range PCR was used.

#### Study II

We found that chimney sweeps had a non-significantly lower *FLG* null frequency (8.6 %; Table 4) than the control group (11.8 %, P=0.35). Further we found that chimney sweeps had a non-significantly higher frequency of CNV12 (27.8 %) than the controls (19.7%) (P=0.09).

#### Study III and IV

We found a *FLG* null frequency of 6.5% (Table 4) in phase I, among participants from southern Sweden. We found a frequency of total CNV20-22 (CNV10/10, CNV10/11, CNV11/11, CNV10/12) of 64.6% and CNV23-24 (CNV11/12, CNV12/12) of 25.8% among wt carriers in phase II. We found a frequency of total CNV20-22 of 78.2% and CNV23-24 of 21.7% among *FLG* null carriers in phase II, although we could not determine which allele was expressed.

### FLG, dermal absorption and internal dose of chemicals

We found differences in the estimated internal doses of chemicals between FLG genotypes including CNV in study I, II and III. The main findings are summarised and presented in Table 5.

#### Study I

We found that CNV10 carriers in the hairdresser group had a significantly lower risk of elevated hb-o-toluidine adducts in blood than non-carriers (Table 5), but not between FLG null and wt and no differences for either genotype for hb-m-toluidine. We found no differences for hb-o-toluidine or hb-m-toluidine between FLG genotypes among the controls (not in Table 5; refer to study I)

#### Study II

We found that CNV12 carriers in the chimney sweep group working mainly with soot sweeping (high PAH exposure) had significantly lower levels of PAH metabolite concentrations compared to non-carriers (Table 5) in linear regression, but not between *FLG* null and wt. We found no differences between *FLG* genotypes among the controls (not in Table 5; refer to study II).

#### Study III

We found that *FLG* null carriers in phase II excreted 110% higher levels of pyrimethanil metabolite than wt CNV23-24 carriers, and 18% higher levels of pyrimethanil metabolite than wt CNV20-22 carriers, estimated by  $AUC_{(0-40h)}$  (Table 5). For oxybenzone and pyrene, there was also a *FLG* null/CNV dose dependent gradient for  $AUC_{(0-40h)}$ , but it was not statistically significant.

Table 5. Summary of exposure estimates from study I-III, effect estimates (95% confidence intervals) from logistic and linear regression (log/lin regr) between *FLG* and CNV genotypes in study I-II and comparisons with ANOVA in study III.

Study <sup>9</sup>	Exposure dose	Exposure estimation	Genotype	N above/under median (%)	OR <sup>[log regr]</sup> (95% CI)	P [log regr]	
I: Hair-	Unknown,	Blood hb-o-	FLG null	6/6 (50/50)	0.98 (0.31, 3.11)	0.97	
dressers <i>n</i> =295	occupational	toluidine	FLG wt	140/137 (50.5/49.5)	ref		
			CNV10	52/72 (41.9/58.1)	0.53 (0.33, 0.86)	0.010	
			No CNV10	93/70 (57.1/42.9)	ref		
		Blood hb-m-	FLG null	7/5 (58.3/41.7)	1.43 (0.44, 4.62)	0.55	
		toluidine	FLG wt	137/140 (49.5/50.5)	ref		
			CNV10	66/58 (53.2/46.8)	1.26 (0.79, 2.01)	0.34	
			No CNV10	78/85 (47.9/52.1)	ref		
Study	Exposure dose	Exposure estimation	Genotype	Concentration (median, µg/g creatinine, IQR)	β <sup>[lin regr]</sup> (95% CI)	P [lin regr]	
II: Chimney	High	Spot urinary	FLG null	0.78 (0.54-4.8)	0.43 (-0.35, 1.2)	0.28	
sweeps occupational n=151 soot exposure	1-hydroxy- pyrene	FLG wt	0.79 (0.37-1.3)	ref			
		CNV12	0.37 (0.29-1.08)	-0.44 (-0.83,-0.053)	0.025		
	oxpoodro		No CNV12	0.86 (0.52-1.35)	ref		
	Low	Spot urinary 1-hydroxy-	FLG null	0.23 (0.10-0.52)	0.28 (-0.42, 0.98)	0.43	
	occupational		FLG wt	0.16 (0.08-0.36)	ref		
	exposure	pyrelie	CNV12	0.14 (0.09-0.39)	0.031 (-0.50, 0.56)	0.91	
			No CNV12	0.19 (0.09-0.37)	ref		
Study	Exposure dose	Exposure estimation	Genotype	AUC <sub>(0-40h)</sub> (nmol, G	M, 95% CI)	P [ANOVA]	
III: Phase II	4.7 mg	AUC(0-40h)	FLG null	1676, 1253-2243		0.038	
participants <i>n</i> =54	pyrimethanil	1-hydroxy- pyrimethanil	WT CNV 20-22	1421, 1047-1927			
			WT CNV 23-24	799, 494-1294			
	1.1 mg	AUC(0-40h)	FLG null	28.4, 22.9-35.1		0.195	
	pyrene	1-hydroxy- pyrene	WT CNV 20-22	27.2, 21.8-34.0	27.2, 21.8-34.0		
			WT CNV 23-24	19.6, 13.8-27.9			
	4.7 mg	AUC(0-40h)	FLG null	1161, 891-1510		0.165	
	oxybenzone	Oxybenzone	WT CNV 20-22	1061, 797-1409			
			WT CNV 23-24	711, 459-1104			

Among *FLG* null, we found shorter lag times (Table 6) for skin absorption of pyrimethanil (62% and 79% shorter) and pyrene (14% and 35% shorter), respectively, compared with *FLG* wt CNV20-22 and 23-24. Wildtype carriers with CNV20-22 had 82% shorter lag times for oxybenzone than wt CNV23-24 and *FLG* null had 69% shorter lag times than wt CNV23-24. We found larger absorption rate constants (Table 6) for pyrimethanil (50% larger), pyrene (45% larger), and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> For control groups in study I and II, refer to each study

oxybenzone (77% larger) among *FLG* null than *FLG* wt CNV23-24, and similar absorption rate constants to *FLG* null for pyrimethanil, pyrene, and oxybenzone.

Study	Exposure dose	Genotype	Lag time (min±SD)	<i>P</i> [ANOVA]	Rate constant (h <sup>-1</sup> ±SD)	<i>P</i> [ANOVA]
III: Phase II	4.7 mg	FLG null	8.4±1.2	>0.001	0.19±0.04	0.02
participants pyrimethanil <i>n</i> =54	WT CNV 20-22	22±3.6		0.20±0.05		
		WT CNV 23-24	40±7.2		0.13±0.03	
	1.1 mg	FLG null	54.6±7.2	0.011	0.16±0.05	0.019
	pyrene	WT CNV 20-22	63.6±9.6		0.14±0.03	
		WT CNV 23-24	84.6±17.4		0.11±0.03	
4.7 mg oxyben	4.7 mg	4.7 mg FLG null	4.2±0.6	>0.001	0.23±0.07	0.005
	oxybenzone	WT CNV 20-22	2.4±0.54		0.22±0.08	
		WT CNV 23-24	13.8±7.8		0.13±0.04	

Table 6. Comparisons of lag times and rate constants for skin uptake between FLG and CNV genotypes in study III.

### FLG and toxicity biomarkers

#### Telomere length, DNA methylation and mitochondrial DNA

#### Study I

In the hairdresser group, we found that FLG null carriers had significantly shorter telomeres (by 23%) than non-carriers in unadjusted linear regression analysis (Table 7), and 15% shorter telomeres than non-carriers (P=0.009) in linear regression analysis adjusted for age, passive smoking, residence and education level (not in Table 7, refer to study I). CNV10 carriers had significantly shorter telomeres (by 15%) than non-carriers in unadjusted linear regression analysis (Table 7) and 5% shorter telomeres than non-carriers (P=0.048) in linear regression analysis adjusted for age, passive smoking, residence and education level (not in Table 7; refer to study I). We found no differences regarding the DNA methylation index between FLG null and wt among hairdressers (Table 7). Among hairdressers, FLG null carriers had a higher risk for methylation of CDKN2A (OR=6.26, CI=1.13-34.7, P=0.036) than non-carriers in linear regression analysis adjusted for age, passive smoking, residence and education level, but not in unadjusted analysis (OR=4.48, CI=0.93-24.5, P=0.060). For controls, associations between FLG null and telomere length were not observed, but FLG null carriers had a higher risk of methylation of MGMT (OR=5.30, CI=1.02-27.6, P=0.048) than non-carriers in age, passive smoking, residence, and education adjusted linear regression analysis, and in unadjusted analysis (OR=6.48, CI=1.30-32.2, P=0.022). CNV10 carriers had a higher risk of methylation of DAPK1 (OR=2.89, CI=1.08-7.72, P=0.034) than noncarriers in age, passive smoking, residence, and education adjusted analysis, but not in unadjusted analysis (OR=2.40, CI=0.98-5.91, P=0.057).

#### Study II

We found that telomere length was significantly shorter in FLG null carriers (by 7%) compared with non-carriers (Table 7) in linear regression adjusted for study group (chimney sweep/control) and 8% shorter when adjusted for study group, age and smoking (P=0.15; not in Table 7, refer to study II). Methylation of F2RL3 (CpG2) was 3.4% higher in FLG null carriers than non-carriers when adjusting for study group (Table 7) and 2.5% higher after adjusting for study group, age and smoking (P=0.019; not in Table 7, refer to study II). We found no associations between FLG genotype and F2RL3 (CpG1), AHRR CpG sites or mitochondrial DNA copy number (not included in Table 7).

 Table 7. Summary of relative telomere lengths and methylation degrees in study I and II, and effect estimates (95% confidence interval) from linear and ordinal regression (lin/ord regr) between FLG and CNV genotypes

Study group	Genotype	Relative telomere length (mean)	β <sup>[lin regr]</sup> (95% CI)	<b>P</b> [lin regr]	Methylation index <i>n</i> 1/2/3 (%)	OR <sup>[ord regr]</sup> (95% CI)	P [ord regr]
Í: Hair- dressers	FLG null	0.6335	-0.19 (-0.33, -0.055	0.0060	3/4/3 (30/40/30)	1.19 (0.37, 3.81)	0.77
	FLG wt	0.8244	ref		84/100/66 (34/40/26)	ref	
	CNV10	0.7300	-0.083 (-0.14, -0.027)	0.0036	34/47/30 (31/42/27)	1.19 (0.76, 1.88)	0.45
	No CNV10	0.8547	ref		53/59/37 (36/40/25)	ref	
I: Controls	FLG null	0.8593	-0.025 (-0.23, 0.18)	0.81	1/2/3 (17/33/50)	2.61 (0.54, 12.7)	0.23
	FLG wt	0.8838	ref		26/29/21 (34/38/28)	ref	
	CNV10	0.8666	-0.035 (-0.14, 0.073)	0.52	14/17/14 (31/38/31)	1.21 (0.54-2.69)	0.64
	No CNV10	0.9015	ref		13/14/10 (35/38/27)	ref	
Study group	Genotype/ group	Relative telomere length (mean)	β[lin regr] (95% CI)	<b>P</b> [lin regr]	Methylation CpG2 <i>F2LR3</i> (mean)	β <sup>[lin regr]</sup> (95% CI)	P [lin regr]
II:Chimney sweeps +	FLG null	0.533	-0.043 (-0.084, -0.003)	0.037	77.34	2.6 (0.080, 5.0)	0.043
controls	FLG wt	0.576	ref		74.79	ref	
	Chimney sweep	0.549	0.010 (-0.014, 0.034)	0.409	75.96	-0.205 (-1.6, 1.3	0.786
	Control	0.559	ref	_	76.17	ref	_
II:Chimney sweeps +	CNV12	0.565	-0.0086 (-0.037, 0.024)	0.552	75.27	0.31 (-1.4, 2.1)	0.642
controls <sup>10</sup>	No CNV12	0.574	ref		74.96	ref	
	Chimney sweep	0.573	-0.009 (-0.037, 0.020)	0.529	74.95	0.314 (-1.4, 2.1)	0.642
	Control	0.566	ref		75.30	ref	

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Exposure group (chimney sweep/control) was included in the linear regression model.

#### FLG and serum inflammation-related proteins

#### Study IV

We found up-regulation of inflammation-related proteins among FLG null carriers, and down-regulation among FLG wt carriers, after simultaneous dermal exposure to pyrimethanil, pyrene, oxybenzone and nickel. After correction for multiple comparison, we found 30 proteins to be differentially expressed post- vs preexposure. Eleven proteins were differentially expressed for FLG null and 22 for FLG wt (3 were common). Of these 30 differentially expressed proteins within the genotype groups, 12 proteins (Table 8) were differentially expressed when comparing the median difference between genotypes. Four proteins were upregulated for FLG null and eight were down-regulated for FLG wt.

We used ingenuity pathway analysis to predict differences between FLG genotypes in diseases and function related to the differentially expressed proteins. We found differences in chemotaxis between FLG null and wt carriers, where FLG null carriers had a slight activation of processes involving chemotaxis, but FLG wt carriers had a clear inhibition (FLG null activation z-score=0.21, P=1.52E-15, FLGwt activation z-score=-3.68, P=7.36E-25).

Table 8. Inflammation-related proteins in study IV (n=44), fold changes post-vs pre-exposure, and comparison between genotypes, and vitamin D concentrations in study IV (n=54) pre resp. post exposure, and comparison between genotypes.

Inflammation-related	Genotype					
proteins	FLG null		FLG wt		<i>P</i> [diff. between genotypes] <sup>11</sup>	
	Fold change	P[post vs pre] <sup>12</sup>	Fold change	P[post <i>vs</i> pre] <sup>8</sup>		
HGF	1.04	0.040	0.97	>0.99	0.016	
IL18R1	1.04	0.040	1.00	0.946	0.003	
OSM	1.24	0.040	1.04	>0.99	0.024	
TNFSF12	1.04	0.044	1.05	>0.99	0.031	
CCL3	0.89	0.089	0.82	0.008	0.039	
CCL11	1.07	>0.99	0.92	0.031	0.010	
CCL25	0.97	0.383	0.93	<0.001	0.023	
CSF1	1.04	>0.99	0.91	0.029	0.019	
IL8	0.96	0.860	0.84	0.011	0.010	
CCL7	1.10	>0.99	0.91	0.032	0.049	
TNFSF10	0.93	0.700	0.93	<0.001	0.019	
VEGFA	0.95	>0.99	0.92	0.010	0.008	
Vitamin D	FLG null median	P[post vs pre] <sup>12</sup>	FLG wt median	<i>P</i> [post vs pre] <sup>8</sup>	<i>P</i> [between genotypes] <sup>11</sup>	
Vitamin D conc pre exposure (ng/mL)	34.0	0.038	28.5	0.005	0.004	
Vitamin D conc post exposure (ng/mL)	37.6		29.8		0.033	

<sup>11</sup> Mann Whitney U-test.

<sup>12</sup> Paired samples Wilcoxon test.

### Vitamin D

#### Study IV

*FLG* null carriers had 19% and 26% higher vitamin D concentrations than wt carriers, before and after the exposure experiment, respectively (Table 8). The vitamin D concentrations increased with exposure by 11% for *FLG* null carriers, and by 5% for *FLG* wt carriers, but the larger increment among *FLG* null was not statistically significant (P[Mann-Whitney]=0.113).

Comparisons of vitamin D levels pre- and post exposure between FLG null, wt CNV20-22 and wt CNV23-24 is presented in Table 9 and was not presented in the manuscript for study IV. There was a significant difference between post-exposure concentrations depending on FLG null and low and high CNV. Pairwise comparison revealed a significant difference between FLG null and wt CNV20-22 (P=0.011), but not wt CNV23-24 (P=0.130), or between CNV20-22 and CNV23-24 (P=0.706)

Table 9. Vitamin D concentrations in study IV (n=54) pre resp. post exposure, and comparison between FLG null, wt CNV20-22, and 23-24

Genotype	Vitamin D conc. pre exposure (median, IQR, ng/mL)	<i>P</i> [Kruskal Wallis]	Vitamin D conc. post exposure (median, IQR, ng/mL)	<i>P</i> [Kruskal Wallis]
FLG null	34.0 (28.1-38.4)	0.116	37.6 (31.9-43.3)	0.031
FLG wt CNV20-22	28.5 (24.5-32.0)		29.6 (25.6-34.4)	
FLG wt CNV23-24	28.2 (22.1-39.3)		32.5 (21.9-39.5)	

## Discussion

This thesis showed that FLG null and low CNV influence the uptake of some common chemicals via the skin. We also showed that FLG null and low CNV modify the systemic toxicity after skin exposure. Dermal exposure to chemicals has long been deemed a less significant exposure route than inhalation exposure, and regulative legislation concerning dermal exposure is therefore lagging, partly because assessing dermal occupational or consumer exposure is difficult. An important step in assessing risk in relation to chemical exposure is to identify susceptibility factors for dermal exposure. We have now collected evidence that the variation in dermal absorption of some chemicals can affect the internal dose with as much as two-fold, depending on FLG genetics alone. If the associations between FLG null and low CNV groups and increased systemic effects have an impact on human health needs further investigation. When setting limit values policymakers should also consider genetic susceptibility studies, to identify the most susceptible individuals in a population and adjust existing limit values to safe limits for everyone.

### FLG polymorphism in different study groups

We found fewer carriers of *FLG* null in the occupational groups included in studies I and II than in the control groups, although not significantly. The frequency in the hairdresser group is also lower than available frequencies (7.6–11 %) for general populations in Denmark, Ireland and Germany (Bandier et al. 2013; Brown et al. 2012; Greisenegger et al. 2010; Joensen et al. 2014; Thyssen et al. 2010; Varbo et al. 2017), but higher than in Finland (2%) (Luukkonen et al. 2017). An explanation for the lower *FLG* null frequency among hairdressers could be a healthy worker effect, which also could explain the lower frequency of CNV10 (43%) carriers among hairdressers than in the control group (56%). *FLG* null carriers may develop occupational skin disease early in their carrier and quit their job as a hairdresser, perhaps already during training, which would decrease the frequency of *FLG* null carriers in occupations with high dermal exposure. This hypothesis was investigated by a Danish research team. They found that the combination of carrying *FLG* null and having eczema as a child was associated with avoiding occupational chemical exposure in adulthood (Bandier et al. 2013).

In study III, where participants were recruited regardless of occupation, we found a frequency of 6.5%, closer to the expected in the Northern European population. Nevertheless, we expect that those FLG null carriers with substantial problems with eczema or other skin related issues would not sign up for this study as the overall aim was to identify individuals for a subsequent skin exposure study. Hence there is a possibility for slight selection bias towards individuals without skin diseases, and since 20-50% of patients with atopic dermatitis (Brown and Irvine 2008) carry a FLG null mutation, thus a bias towards FLG wt.

### FLG polymorphism and internal dose of chemicals

#### **Occupational groups**

In the cross-sectional studies of hairdressers and chimney sweeps, we found some but not consistent associations between FLG polymorphism and the internal dose of the chemicals under study. Among hairdressers, the risk of elevated hb-o-toluidine was decreased for CNV10 carriers, opposite to our hypothesis. An explanation could be if CNV10 carriers used gloves more often than non-carriers, because of, we hypothesized, more sensitive skin. This was tested in sensitivity analysis (refer to study I), but no associations were found between glove use and CNV or FLG null. Among chimney sweeps, we found lower levels of PAH in highly exposed CNV12 carriers, according to our hypothesis. We found no significant associations between FLG null and internal dose of the chemicals. With so few FLG null carriers in our occupational study groups, statistical power could be an issue, especially if effect size of being a FLG null carrier is smaller than anticipated, because of possible compensating mechanisms.

Morphology differences of the outermost cell layers found in FLG null carriers compared with non-carriers could be such a compensating mechanism. Gruber et al. (2011) showed that patients that were compound heterozygote for FLG null (two different FLG null mutations) and heterozygote FLG null carriers (one FLG null mutation and one wildtype) had more layers of cells in the stratum corneum than homozygote wild-type carriers. Hypothetically, more cell layers could be protective against chemical exposure, and compensate slightly for an impaired skin barrier. Another such a compensating mechanism could be gene regulation of FLG by the AHR. It has been suggested that AHR can up-regulate the expression of filaggrin by binding both oxidative and antioxidant compounds (Furue et al. 2015; Tsuji et al. 2017), and if FLG null carriers absorb more of these compounds, FLG on the functional allele may be upregulated in response.

Others have found *FLG* polymorphism to be associated with the internal dose of chemicals. Higher urinary concentrations of phthalate metabolites and n-propyl

were found in 65 Danish male FLG null carriers compared with non-carriers in a cross-sectional study (Joensen et al. 2014). Further, also in the same 65 Danish men in another cross-sectional study, higher urinary concentrations of metyl parabens and n-propyl paraben (preservatives used in personal-care products and cosmetics) were found in FLG null carriers compared with non-carriers (Joensen et al. 2017). The Danish studies are based on study participants recruited from the general population and the frequency of FLG null carriers was higher (7.5 %) than in our hairdresser group, possibly resulting in higher power for detecting differences in concentrations of the chemicals depending on FLG null.

#### **Exposure experiment**

We confirmed our hypothesis, that both FLG and low CNV impact the uptake of chemicals through the skin. We saw a 1.5-2-fold higher internal dose (estimated by  $AUC_{(0.40b)}$  among FLG null carriers for all three chemicals, and a dose dependent effect by CNV among wt carriers, however only statistically significant for pyrimethanil. We showed that the lag time for absorption of the chemicals included in the study was 1.5-5 times shorter for FLG null carriers (or low CNV among wt carriers in one case - oxybenzone), and absorption rate constants were 1.5 times larger (and similar as wt carriers with low CNV), compared with wt carriers with high CNV. The combined results of higher internal doses, shorter lag times and higher rate constants confirm that FLG polymorphism had an impact on the uptake of the three chemicals through the skin. We argue that it is possible to generalise the results to an occupational exposure situation or a consumer exposure because we performed a study where the exposure time, dose and area were controlled, and we could follow the urinary excretion over time, which meant we could assess the internal dose. However, we can only generalise to exposures involving the chemicals from this study, if the exposure is of low dose, and the exposure is restricted to the arms and hands. Furthermore, the variation in internal dose between individuals within the genetic groups of study III was large, showing that factors, known and unknown, influence skin absorption, not only FLG polymorphism. Age is one such factor that could affect the skin uptake (Ngo et al. 2010), although we had age matched controls in the experimental study. Washing or rubbing of the skin can also affect skin uptake (Law et al. 2020), which is why we had a standardised washing procedure for participants after the exposure experiment. In the exposure experiment we included mainly Northern Europeans and genotyped them for the four most common null mutations in this population. The generalisability to other populations of different ancestry needs further study, both because other FLG null mutations are present in other populations, and since differences in skin barrier function between populations depending on pigmentation of the skin have been reported (Elias and Wakefield 2011). However, CNV of FLG varies also in other populations, such as Ethiopian (Fernandez et al. 2017) and African-American

populations (Margolis et al. 2020). Similar studies on other populations with different FLG mutations and skin types are warranted.

Regardless of *FLG* null, anyone with a compromised skin barrier due to for example atopic dermatitis may absorb more chemicals through both non-lesional and lesional skin (especially relevant for occupations linked to skin disease, such as hairdressers). Previous research in atopic dermatitis patients show that double the absorption is expected in lesional and non-lesional skin (Halling-Overgaard et al. 2017). In this thesis, we have shown that also FLG null carriers, regardless of whether they have atopic dermatitis, absorb up to twice as much of the chemicals included in the study, and that low CNV, which is more common than FLG null in the population also is a risk factor for higher absorption. A report from the EU for the safe use of pesticides in relation to dermal absorption (EFSA 2017) states that the increased absorption in skin among atopic individuals is covered by the safety factors included when calculating safe exposure levels for operators. However, FLG null carriers may absorb twice as much of not only the chemicals they are exposed to at the workplace, but also chemicals from the consumer products they use. It could be possible that twice the total body burden of the mixture exposure leads to negative health effects for FLG null carriers compared with FLG wt carriers, and this question needs further investigation.

### FLG polymorphism and toxicity

#### Telomere length and DNA-methylation

We found that FLG null was associated with more genotoxicity in the form of shorter telomeres among only the hairdressers in study I, and in study II among both chimney sweeps and controls. In study I, also only among hairdressers, CNV10 was associated with shorter telomeres. We cannot conclude that FLG null carriers working in occupations with high dermal exposure have more DNA-damage than FLG null carriers working in occupations with low dermal exposure. The finding that FLG polymorphism is associated with telomere length among hairdressers, but not among the controls may be due to the hairdressers' higher dermal exposure to chemicals. It could also be due to a relatively small control group in the study, and lower power to detect differences.

Exposure to exogenous compounds have been associated with genotoxicity both in the form of shorter and longer telomeres in leukocytes (Clarity et al. 2020; de Souza et al. 2018; Zhang et al. 2013). A meta-analysis of 21 case-control studies (Ma et al. 2011) published on the subject of telomere length and cancer risk showed that shorter telomeres in peripheral cells may be a marker for increased cancer risk. However, as pointed out by Savage et al 2013 (Savage et al. 2013), these studies did not report the treatment status of patients, as chemotherapy can decrease telomere

length in peripheral cells temporarily (Benitez-Buelga et al. 2015). Several recent large prospective studies have found an association between longer, not shorter, telomeres in peripheral cells and risk for pancreas (Luu et al. 2019a), colorectal (Luu et al. 2019b), breast cancer (Campa et al. 2018; Samavat et al. 2019), lung cancer (Yuan et al. 2018) and no association between short leukocyte telomere length and cancer risk (Weischer et al. 2013). What *FLG* null and low CNV mean for cancer risk warrants further investigation.

We found a six times higher risk for methylation of tumour suppressor gene CDKN2A for FLG null carriers among hairdressers, which is in line with our hypothesis, although confidence intervals were very wide, probably because of the low number of FLG null. Among the controls we found a higher risk for methylation of MGMT (five times higher risk) and DAPK1 (three times higher risk), also with wide confidence intervals. Hypermethylation of CDKN2A (Hoque et al. 2006), MGMT (Jahed et al. 2016) and DAPKI (Abbosh et al. 2008) have previously been linked to bladder cancer. Methylation of these genes should be further investigated between *FLG* null and wt carriers in highly dermally exposed occupational groups and general populations. Opposite to our hypothesis, we found higher methylation of F2RL3 for FLG null carriers among chimney sweeps. Hypomethylation of F2RL3 has previously been associated with lung cancer (Fasanelli et al. 2015), but we found being a *FLG* null carrier was protective for hypomethylation of this gene. The study by Alhamdow et al. 2018 showed less methylation of F2RL3 among chimney sweeps exposed to PAH. Our unexpected result - in addition to the lower levels of hb-o-toluidine found in CNV10 carriers in the hairdresser study suggests that there may be compensatory mechanisms for an impaired skin barrier, or it may be a chance finding as a result of multiple comparisons. In study I, we found altered risks for methylation of tumour suppressor genes among controls, and in study II, the associations between FLG null and methylation did not change depending on being a chimney sweep or control. This implies that everyday non-occupational exposure also influences DNA methylation depending on FLG polymorphism. The relationship between *FLG* polymorphism and genotoxicity and epigenetic changes should be further investigated in other dermally exposed occupational groups and general populations.

#### Inflammatory proteins

We found that there is a FLG polymorphism-dependent difference in inflammationrelated proteins in blood in response to dermal exposure to three organic chemicals and nickel. We found mostly up-regulation of proteins among FLG null but downregulation among FLG wt. The different expression patterns of proteins seemed to result in, as predicted by the pathway analysis, differences in the recruitment – chemotaxis – of immune cells. These results may simply reflect the increased risk among FLG null carriers for inflammatory skin disease (Palmer et al. 2006), or they may also indicate that FLG null carriers have an increased risk for systemic chronic inflammation. Indeed, in a study of n=59 atopic dermatitis patients, inflammationrelated proteins in blood were elevated compared to controls (Brunner et al. 2017), but *FLG* genetics were not reported. Had we taken blood samples also 48 hours after exposure we could have investigated if the effects were long lasting after exposure. We did not have the capacity for taking more blood samples as the nurse responsible was occupied with the ongoing exposure experiment four days per week.

We hypothesized that *FLG* null carriers would have a pro-inflammatory response, but not that wt carriers would have an anti-inflammatory response, which could have been an effect of the properties of the chemicals included. Some PAH (Allan and Sherr 2010; Davila et al. 1995; Laupeze et al. 2002), although not specifically pyrene, have been associated with immunosuppressive properties in vitro and in vivo. Nickel, oxybenzone and pyrene have been associated with changes in inflammation-related protein levels and cells; exposure to PAH was associated with increased white blood cell count among the general population (Clark et al. 2012) and increased acute phase protein Serum Amyloid A1 among coke oven workers (Hadrup et al. 2019), which are indicators of increased systemic inflammation, or acute inflammation or infection. In vitro studies of human macrophages showed that oxybenzone (Ao et al. 2018) and nickel (Åkerlund et al. 2019) could induce increased cytokine expression. However, we cannot elucidate which chemical is responsible for the differential expression patterns we saw. We did not evaluate differences based on CNV genetics in study IV. We did not expect effect sizes to be large, and the size of the sub-group chosen for serum analysis of inflammationrelated proteins was smaller than the total group used in study III. We only had a total of 4 participants representing high CNV (total CNV23-24) in study IV.

#### Vitamin D

We found that vitamin D levels were higher among FLG null carriers than wt carriers in our study, which has been reported previously in a cross-sectional study (Thyssen et al. 2012). It has been suggested that increased vitamin D levels are of evolutionary advantage to FLG null carriers (Thyssen et al. 2014), which could be one reason for the relatively high prevalence of FLG null in Northern Europe, except Finland. We found an increase in vitamin D levels for both genotypes after the 4 h exposure, which could be due to diurnal variation of vitamin D (Jones et al. 2017). The increment was larger among FLG null carriers than wt carriers, however not significantly. Although, we cannot exclude that vitamin D levels was affected by the exposure.

We could not establish a link between increased vitamin D levels and the inflammation-related proteins in study IV other than that we found the VDR receptor to be identified as an upstream regulator for some proteins among both FLG null and wt. We hypothesized that vitamin D would be a protective factor against inflammation among FLG null carriers, since vitamin D is an important co-factor for the immune system. This needs further investigation.

### Strengths and limitations

#### Study I and II

One strength of study I and II is that these studies include a relatively large number of hairdressers and chimney sweeps: about 1.3% of hairdressers working in Sweden in 2009 (SCB 2021a, b) were included in study I, and about 10 % of chimney sweeps working in Sweden in 2015 (SSR 2021) were included in study II. Previous research about differences in skin absorption has focused on *FLG* null, and most often in atopic dermatitis patients. In study I and II we evaluated both *FLG* null and CNV in occupational groups. We investigated associations between *FLG* null and CNV with systemic effects measured as biomarkers of cancer-related DNA changes in blood, which few others have done before.

Limitations of these studies are that they are cross-sectional, limiting conclusions about casual relationships. Further, the exposure assessments in our occupational groups were not optimal. We did not know the actual level of external exposure, which likely differed between individuals and influenced the internal dose, and we measured exposure biomarkers only once. Also, the urinary and hb-adduct biomarker levels reflect uptake via all exposure routes, not only the dermal exposure route, which hampers investigating associations with FLG that is mainly expressed in the skin. Tape stripping could have been performed to assess the dermal exposure. This was not feasible at the time of sampling. The urinary biomarkers reflect very recent exposure to PAH, which made it difficult to assess the exposure for chimney sweeps not working with soot related tasks very often. However, in a previous study if these chimney sweeps, there was a correlation between PAH in urine and how much soot sweeping the chimney sweeps had performed during the last months (Alhamdow 2019).

Another limitation is that we measured telomere length and DNA methylation in peripheral cells from blood in both study I and II, and not from cells in tissues where tumours may develop. The DNA methylation patterns in peripheral blood cells vary depending on the cell type (Reinius et al. 2012) and the telomere length of peripheral blood cells may vary over short periods of time (Theodosiou et al. 2019). However, higher incidences of haematopoietic cancer forms have been found among chimney sweeps (Hogstedt et al. 2013), and genotoxic and epigenetic changes in blood cells may be more relevant for prediction of hematopoietic cancer risk.

The control group for hairdressers was small and included both exposed (consumers of hair dye) and non-exposed subjects, for a hypothesized gradient of aromatic amine exposure between hairdressers, consumers, and controls. However, the exposure overall was low and there was not a gradient in the exposure to aromatic amines. The analysis method for hb-adducts of aromatic amines was labour intensive with many steps, which may have introduced errors. Meanwhile, the hbadducts reflect a longer period of exposure, up to four months. We did not include exposure biomarkers in analyses regarding telomere length and DNA methylation patterns, for hairdressers because exposure to the chosen aromatic amines was low; many were below the LOD. For chimney sweeps PAH were excluded because no associations between PAH and telomere length or DNA methylation biomarkers were found in previous work (Alhamdow et al. 2018).

Another limitation is that we did not have complete information about CNV in study II. Because of methodological difficulties the CNV genotypes could not be assessed and only carriers of 12 could be distinguished from carriers of 10 or 11. Tape stripping could also have been used to quantify levels of filaggrin and NMF in the skin.

#### Study III and IV

Strengths of study III and IV include that they were based on a human experimental setting where the dose, area and time of exposure were controlled. The human experiment included multiple sampling occasions. The chemicals chosen for the dermal exposure experiment, study III, represent common environmental and occupational exposures. However, a limitation is that the three organic chemicals were chemically rather similar: pyrene, pyrimethanil and oxybenzone all contain aromatic rings, and are of similar molecular weight but with varying log P. A limitation regarding generalisability is that we only exposed at two anatomical sites of the arms. However, the difference in absorption through different anatomical sites (Lotte et al. 1987) is hypothetically similar regardless of FLG null. We measured the known metabolites of the compounds included, except for oxybenzone where we only measured the parent compound. If the compounds have other metabolites, this could affect the estimation of the internal dose in study III.

Another limitation is that we could not distinguish which strand of DNA among FLG null carriers that carried the null mutation, which meant we could not group FLG null carriers according to CNV. If FLG null carriers with low CNV are an even more susceptible group to dermal absorption remains to be seen.

We had issues with the nickel exposure in study III, even though exposure levels were below that used in patch-testing for nickel allergy. We started using occluded nickel exposure, and then stopped the exposure after some participants had a skin reaction. We then reintroduced nickel exposure, but without occlusion. We had accidentally created three exposure groups – one with no nickel exposure, one with medium nickel exposure (open exposure) and one with high nickel exposure (occluded exposure), which is relevant for the results in study IV. However, *FLG* null and wt carriers were evenly spread out between the groups. Regarding skin reactions, four participants noted reactions due to nickel exposure, and in one case pyrene. The participants were evenly spread out over genotype groups and when excluded in sensitivity analysis in study IV, the results for differentially expressed proteins did not change dramatically.

Further, we cannot determine if or which of the chemicals included in the exposure experiment were responsible for the observed differential expression of inflammation-related proteins in study IV. Our aim was not to examine the effect on inflammatory proteins for each chemical individually. For practical reasons we performed the experiment with co-exposure to all four compounds, and to resemble a mixture exposure that is relevant for consumers and occupational groups. However, we may have overlooked some unintentional exposures, such as the vehicle used to administrate the exposure doses and the tape used for occluding the exposure sites.

### Future perspectives

#### Other skin-related genes of potential interest

In this thesis, we focused on the role of filaggrin polymorphism for dermal absorption of chemicals. We have investigated the significance of the four most common null mutations in Northern Europe, as well as CNV, for absorption of chemicals and systemic effects. For future research, it is important to also consider other genes involved in the maintenance of skin barrier structure and function. Examples are Kallikrein-related peptidase 5 (KLK5), that is involved in the processing of pro-filaggrin into filaggrin monomers (Sakabe et al. 2013), and caspase-14 (CASP14) that is involved in cleaving of filaggrin monomers into natural moisturizing factors (Hoste et al. 2011). Other skin barrier genes of the epidermal differentiation complex could also be of relevance, such as filaggrin 2 (FLG2) and hornerin (HRNR), which were found down-regulated in hand eczema patients (Molin et al. 2015). Further important molecules for skin barrier integrity include lipids. A decrease in the lipid content of the stratum corneum in atopic dermatitis patients is common, in addition to FLG polymorphism (van Smeden and Bouwstra 2016). The decrease in lipid content is due to decreased expression or decreased activity of several different lipid processing enzymes, which can lead to abnormal stratum corneum lipid organization and impair skin barrier structure and function (van Smeden and Bouwstra 2016).

#### Health effects of dermal exposure

In this thesis we found associations between FLG polymorphism and genotoxicity and inflammation. We need more knowledge about the systemic effects of an increased chemical absorption among FLG null and low CNV carriers. For example, we could genotype biobank samples for FLG polymorphism from confirmed cancer or cardiovascular disease cases, and compare with healthy controls, to investigate if the frequency of FLG null and low CNV is overrepresented in the previously mentioned group. Other systemic effects include endocrine disrupting effects for other hormonal systems than the male reproduction system, with which the previously mentioned Danish study (Joensen et al. 2014) found associations for FLG null, for example female reproduction hormones or thyroid hormones that are important for neurodevelopment.

#### Predicting skin absorption

Further research about skin absorption of chemicals (with different properties) depending on skin genetics in humans is needed and could be used to predict skin absorption in occupational settings or for consumers. A predictive model for skin absorption, such as the dermal Advanced REACH Tool (McNally et al. 2019), but with built-in genotypes of risk genes for dermal absorption, and combined with studies on human health in relation to skin exposure, could be a way forward towards complying to REACH legislation about implementing DOEL:s. Using toxicokinetic models in combination with experimental data is one way of producing data to base such a predictive model on.

## Conclusions

In this thesis we investigated whether FLG genetics influence the internal dose of chemicals and systemic effects related to chemical exposure. From the results presented in this thesis we can draw the following conclusions:

- I. Carrying a *FLG* null mutation was associated with genotoxicity in the form of shorter telomeres among hairdressers, and among chimney sweeps and controls. Further, carrying a low CNV (10 repeats), independent of *FLG* null, was associated with shorter telomeres than high CNV (11 or 12 repeats) carriers in hairdressers.
- II. Carrying a *FLG* null mutation was associated with a higher risk of elevated DNA methylation of tumour suppressor genes *CDKN2A* and *MGMT* among hairdressers and controls, respectively. Carrying a low CNV (10 repeats) was associated with a higher risk of elevated DNA methylation of tumour suppressor gene *DAPK1* among controls. Carrying a *FLG* null was associated with more methylation of *F2RL3* among chimney sweeps and controls, contrary to our hypothesis.
- III. Carrying a low CNV (10 repeats) among hairdressers was associated with lower risk of elevated hb-o-toluidine levels, contrary to our hypothesis. Carrying a high CNV (12 repeats) among chimney sweeps with high soot exposure was associated with lower levels of PAH in urine compared with low CNV (10 or 11 repeats).
- IV. *FLG* null carriers absorbed about twice as much of the chemicals included in study III, with up to 80% shorter lag times for skin absorption than wt carriers with high CNV (a total CNV of 23-24).
- V. There was a dose dependent effect of CNV among wt carriers on the absorption of the chemicals included in study III.
- VI. *FLG* null carriers in study III had higher vitamin D levels than wt carriers, both before and after the dermal exposure experiment.
- VII. Finally, systemic effects in the form of expression of inflammationrelated proteins after exposure to some chemicals differed between *FLG* null and wt carriers, with a more pro-inflammatory profile among *FLG* null carriers.

# Acknowledgements

Tack till min huvudhandledare **Karin Broberg**. Tack för allt du har lärt mig om vetenskapligt skrivande, genetik och epidemiologi och för alla trevliga veckomöten som gjorde pandemin och hemarbetet lättare att hantera.

Tack till min handledare **Christian Lindh**. Att få komma och prata då och då är guld värt! Ditt stöd har gjort att jag har klarat mig igenom de här åren (relativt) helskinnad.

Tack till min handledare Malin Engfeldt, för att du ser saker från ett annat perspektiv.

Tack till **Bosse**, för att du anställde mig en gång i tiden, så att jag skulle slippa tälta utanför F-blocket. Vila i frid.

Tack till **Karin Wahlberg** för ditt stöd och hjälp under tiden du var min handledare, och speciellt tack för ditt bidrag i sotarstudien.

Tack till **Moosa Faniband** för hjälp med mass-spektrometrianalyser och data, **Ayman Alhamdow** för hjälp med sotarprover och data, och **Anda Gliga** för hjälp med IPA. Tack till **Hamideh Rastkani** och **Åsa Amilon** för hjälp med massspektrometrianalyser.

Thanks to **Eleni Korre Nte Paoula** for running the show while I was on maternity leave. Your work with the exposure experiment has been absolutely priceless. Tack **Eva Assarsson** för ditt hästjobb med exponeringsprojektet, och tack för alla pratstunder om barn och barnbarn. Tack till **alla** som på olika sätt har hjälpt till i exponeringsprojektet!

Tack till **Gunnar Johanson** för din introduktion till toxikokinetiska analyser, som gav mig självförtroendet att genomföra analyserna själv.

Tack till **Anneli Julander** och **Carola Lidén** för ett mycket trevligt samarbete med exponeringsstudien.

Tack till **Margareta Littorin** för ditt bidrag till exponeringsstudien, för din positivitet, för pratstunder och för rossticklingar, även om de inte tog sig.

Tack till **Anna Jöud** och **Magnus Bruze** för en bra diskussion och värdefulla kommentarer på mitt halvtidsseminarium.

Tack till **Bo Strandberg** och **Lina Hagvall** för att ni tog er tid att läsa min kappa och för era kluriga frågor på fördisputationen.

Tack till **alla kollegor** på labbet under tiden på F-blocket och **nya kollegor** sedan dess, och tack till alla i **limporna** som tidigare gjorde tisdagar till den bästa dagen!

Tack till **Daniela Pineda** för att du alltid finns där för oss doktorander och studenter, ditt tålamod och din kunskap om alla olika DNA-prover i våra studier är ovärderlig. Tack för hjälpen med genotypning och allmänt stöd i labbet. Tack även för alla lunchstunder med diskussioner om bra serier.

Tack till Mats Gustafsson för trevliga fikastunder med mycket teaterprat!

Tack till mina gamla doktorandkollegor **Eva Ekman**, **Neserin Ali**, **Julia Broström** och **Hanna Landberg** för alla fredagsluncher, drinkvällar och roliga fikastunder. Ni gjorde det verkligen till en glädje att gå till jobbet, och jag saknar er så mycket!

Tack Annette Krais, för att du är en virvelvind!

Tack till den bästa doktorandkollegan **Erika Norén**, för allt stöd, trams och skratt. Tack för att du alltid lyssnar och alltid har svar på tal. Du har varit en fantastisk roomie i vår djungel till kontor! Jag lovar att försöka vattna blommorna!

Tack till alla medlemmar av Lilla Shakespeareteatern, alla ni som gjort den levande och en orsak att kämpa vidare när det varit tufft. Ni har varit vid min sida under hela denna resa, vare sig det har varit på scenen eller på zoom. Speciellt tack till Mette för att du fick med mig, tack till Sigrid, för att du lyssnar, tack till Johanna, för att du ser rakt igenom oss alla, tack till Clara, mitt tvillingkörsbär, tack till Jacob, för att du ger oss finkultur på riktigt, tack till Ulla, för att du är vårt ankare, och ta och ta-ra till Amanda Beata.

Tack till **Elin** och **Girish**, för att vi får kalla er familj. Er vänskap ger energi att orka med vardagen, med vabbande, dagishämtningar och avhandling.

Tack pappa och Pia, Louise, Stoffe och Esper, Robin, Amanda och Victor, Jenny och Stephen, Simon, Anne, hela min stora familj för att ni finns där för mig, Johan och barnen.

Tack **mamma**, för att du kastade dig ut och flyttade hit till oss. Att du finns i vår vardag är helt ovärderligt. Tack för att jag alltid får ringa dig och prata på mina kvällspromenader och tack för att jag fick vara kollega i hemmakontoret. Tack för att du är en mormor till mina barn som är alla barns dröm. Tack också för ditt fina bidrag till min avhandling i form av både läsning och omslagsbild.

Tack till **Johan**, för att du hjälper till att hålla mig med båda fötterna på jorden. Tack för att du är så finurlig och bjuder mig på hemma-opera när det är för stressigt. Tack mina underbara barn **Viola** och **Edgar** för att ni ger de bästa kramarna. Speciellt tack till **Viola** för att du ofta erbjudit dig att hjälpa mig att jobba. Tack för att ni ger mig det bästa i livet!

## References

- Abbosh PH, Wang M, Eble JN, Lopez-Beltran A, Maclennan GT, Montironi R, Zheng S, Pan CX, Zhou H, Cheng L. 2008. Hypermethylation of tumor-suppressor gene cpg islands in small-cell carcinoma of the urinary bladder. Mod Pathol 21:355-362, doi: 10.1038/modpathol.3801012
- Ahlström MG, Midander K, Menné T, Lidén C, Johansen JD, Julander A, Thyssen JP. 2019. Nickel deposition and penetration into the stratum corneum after short metallic nickel contact: An experimental study. Contact dermatitis 80:86-93, doi: 10.1111/cod.13136
- Ahmed S, Khan H, Mirzaei H. 2019. Mechanics insights of curcumin in myocardial ischemia: Where are we standing? Eur J Med Chem 183:111658, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2019.111658
- Akyüz M, Ata Ş. 2008. Determination of aromatic amines in hair dye and henna samples by ion-pair extraction and gas chromatography-mass spectrometry. Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis 47:68-80, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpba.2007.12.011
- Albin M, Rylander L, Mikoczy Z, Lillienberg L, Dahlman Hoglund A, Brisman J, Toren K, Meding B, Kronholm Diab K, Nielsen J. 2002. Incidence of asthma in female swedish hairdressers. Occup Environ Med 59:119-123,
- Alfonso JH, Bauer A, Bensefa-Colas L, Boman A, Bubas M, Constandt L, Crepy MN, Goncalo M, Macan J, Mahler V, Mijakoski D, Ramada Rodilla JM, Rustemeyer T, Spring P, John SM, Uter W, Wilkinson M, Giménez-Arnau AM. 2017. Minimum standards on prevention, diagnosis and treatment of occupational and work-related skin diseases in europe – position paper of the cost action standerm (td 1206). Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology 31:31-43, doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/jdv.14319
- Alhamdow A, Gustavsson P, Rylander L, Jakobsson K, Tinnerberg H, Broberg K. 2017a. Chimney sweeps in sweden: A questionnaire-based assessment of long-term changes in work conditions, and current eye and airway symptoms. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 90:207-216, doi: 10.1007/s00420-016-1186-7
- Alhamdow A, Lindh C, Albin M, Gustavsson P, Tinnerberg H, Broberg K. 2017b. Early markers of cardiovascular disease are associated with occupational exposure to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. Sci Rep 7:9426-9426, doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-09956-x
- Alhamdow A, Lindh C, Hagberg J, Graff P, Westberg H, Krais AM, Albin M, Gustavsson P, Tinnerberg H, Broberg K. 2018. DNA-methylation of the cancer-related genes
f2rl3 and ahrr is associated with occupational exposure to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. Carcinogenesis, doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgy059

- Alhamdow A. 2019. Occupational exposure to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and early biomarkers related to cardiovascular disease and cancer [Doctoral Thesis]. Stockholm:Karolinska Institutet, Institute of Environmental Medicine.
- Alhamdow A, Tinnerberg H, Lindh C, Albin M, Broberg K. 2019. Cancer-related proteins in serum are altered in workers occupationally exposed to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons: A cross-sectional study. Carcinogenesis 40:771-781, doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgz022
- Allan LL, Sherr DH. 2010. Disruption of human plasma cell differentiation by an environmental polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon: A mechanistic immunotoxicological study. Environmental Health 9:15, doi: 10.1186/1476-069X-9-15
- Allen MH, Wakelin SH, Holloway D, Barker JNWN, McFadden JP, Lisby S, Baadsgaard O. 2000. Association of tnfa gene polymorphism at position -308 with susceptibility to irritant contact dermatitis. Immunogenetics 51:201-205, doi: 10.1007/s002510050032
- Andreotti G, Hoppin JA, Hou L, Koutros S, Gadalla SM, Savage SA, Lubin J, Blair A, Hoxha M, Baccarelli A, Sandler D, Alavanja M, Beane Freeman LE. 2015. Pesticide use and relative leukocyte telomere length in the agricultural health study. PloS one 10:e0133382, doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0133382
- Ao J, Yuan T, Gao L, Yu X, Zhao X, Tian Y, Ding W, Ma Y, Shen Z. 2018. Organic uv filters exposure induces the production of inflammatory cytokines in human macrophages. Sci Total Environ 635:926-935, doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.04.217
- Aubert G, Lansdorp PM. 2008. Telomeres and aging. Physiol Rev 88:557-579, doi: 10.1152/physrev.00026.2007
- Baglietto L, Ponzi E, Haycock P, Hodge A, Bianca Assumma M, Jung C-H, Chung J, Fasanelli F, Guida F, Campanella G, Chadeau-Hyam M, Grankvist K, Johansson M, Ala U, Provero P, Wong EM, Joo J, English DR, Kazmi N, Lund E, Faltus C, Kaaks R, Risch A, Barrdahl M, Sandanger TM, Southey MC, Giles GG, Johansson M, Vineis P, Polidoro S, Relton CL, Severi G. 2017. DNA methylation changes measured in pre-diagnostic peripheral blood samples are associated with smoking and lung cancer risk. Int J Cancer 140:50-61, doi: 10.1002/ijc.30431
- Bandier J, Ross-Hansen K, Carlsen BC, Menne T, Linneberg A, Stender S, Szecsi PB, Meldgaard M, Thyssen JP, Johansen JD. 2013. Carriers of filaggrin gene (flg) mutations avoid professional exposure to irritants in adulthood. Contact dermatitis 69:355-362, doi: 10.1111/cod.12097
- Baudry J, Debrauwer L, Durand G, Limon G, Delcambre A, Vidal R, Taupier-Letage B, Druesne-Pecollo N, Galan P, Hercberg S, Lairon D, Cravedi JP, Kesse-Guyot E. 2019. Urinary pesticide concentrations in french adults with low and high organic food consumption: Results from the general population-based nutrinet-sante. J Expo Sci Environ Epidemiol 29:366-378, doi: 10.1038/s41370-018-0062-9
- Benitez-Buelga C, Sanchez-Barroso L, Gallardo M, Apellániz-Ruiz M, Inglada-Pérez L, Yanowski K, Carrillo J, Garcia-Estevez L, Calvo I, Perona R, Urioste M, Osorio A,

Blasco MA, Rodriguez-Antona C, Benitez J. 2015. Impact of chemotherapy on telomere length in sporadic and familial breast cancer patients. Breast Cancer Res Treat 149:385-394, doi: 10.1007/s10549-014-3246-6

- Boeniger MF. 2003. The significance of skin exposure. The Annals of Occupational Hygiene 47:591-593, doi: 10.1093/annhyg/meg095
- Bos PM, Brouwer DH, Stevenson H, Boogaard PJ, de Kort WL, van Hemmen JJ. 1998. Proposal for the assessment of quantitative dermal exposure limits in occupational environments: Part 1. Development of a concept to derive a quantitative dermal occupational exposure limit. Occup Environ Med 55:795-804, doi: 10.1136/oem.55.12.795
- Broberg K, Bjork J, Paulsson K, Hoglund M, Albin M. 2005. Constitutional short telomeres are strong genetic susceptibility markers for bladder cancer. Carcinogenesis 26:1263-1271, doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgi063
- Brown SJ, Irvine AD. 2008. Atopic eczema and the filaggrin story. Semin Cutan Med Surg 27:128-137, doi: 10.1016/j.sder.2008.04.001
- Brown SJ, Kroboth K, Sandilands A, Campbell LE, Pohler E, Kezic S, Cordell HJ, McLean WH, Irvine AD. 2012. Intragenic copy number variation within filaggrin contributes to the risk of atopic dermatitis with a dose-dependent effect. J Invest Dermatol 132:98-104, doi: 10.1038/jid.2011.342
- Brown SJ, McLean WHI. 2012. One remarkable molecule: Filaggrin. J Invest Dermatol 132:751-762, doi: 10.1038/jid.2011.393
- Brunner PM, Suárez-Fariñas M, He H, Malik K, Wen H-C, Gonzalez J, Chan TC-C, Estrada Y, Zheng X, Khattri S, Dattola A, Krueger JG, Guttman-Yassky E. 2017. The atopic dermatitis blood signature is characterized by increases in inflammatory and cardiovascular risk proteins. Sci Rep 7:8707-8707, doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-09207-z
- Campa D, Barrdahl M, Santoro A, Severi G, Baglietto L, Omichessan H, Tumino R, Bueno-de-Mesquita HBA, Peeters PH, Weiderpass E, Chirlaque MD, Rodríguez-Barranco M, Agudo A, Gunter M, Dossus L, Krogh V, Matullo G, Trichopoulou A, Travis RC, Canzian F, Kaaks R. 2018. Mitochondrial DNA copy number variation, leukocyte telomere length, and breast cancer risk in the european prospective investigation into cancer and nutrition (epic) study. Breast Cancer Res 20:29, doi: 10.1186/s13058-018-0955-5
- Candi E, Schmidt R, Melino G. 2005. The cornified envelope: A model of cell death in the skin. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology 6:328-340, doi: 10.1038/nrm1619
- Carlson BM. 2019. Chapter 3 skin. In: The human body, (Carlson BM, ed):Academic Press, 65-85.
- Carøe TK, Ebbehøj NE, Wulf HC, Agner T. 2013. Occupational skin cancer may be underreported. Dan Med J 60:A4624,
- Casarett LJ. 2013. Casarett and doull's toxicology : The basic science of poisons. 8th ed. ed:McGraw-Hill.
- Chan A, Terry W, Zhang H, Karmaus W, Ewart S, Holloway JW, Roberts G, Kurukulaaratchy R, Arshad SH. 2018. Filaggrin mutations increase allergic airway

disease in childhood and adolescence through interactions with eczema and aeroallergen sensitization. Clin Exp Allergy 48:147-155, doi: 10.1111/cea.13077

- Chang YM, Barrett JH, Bishop DT, Armstrong BK, Bataille V, Bergman W, Berwick M, Bracci PM, Elwood JM, Ernstoff MS, Gallagher RP, Green AC, Gruis NA, Holly EA, Ingvar C, Kanetsky PA, Karagas MR, Lee TK, Le Marchand L, Mackie RM, Olsson H, Østerlind A, Rebbeck TR, Sasieni P, Siskind V, Swerdlow AJ, Titus-Ernstoff L, Zens MS, Newton-Bishop JA. 2009. Sun exposure and melanoma risk at different latitudes: A pooled analysis of 5700 cases and 7216 controls. Int J Epidemiol 38:814-830, doi: 10.1093/ije/dyp166
- Cheng PS, Weng SF, Chiang CH, Lai FJ. 2016. Relationship between arsenic-containing drinking water and skin cancers in the arseniasis endemic areas in taiwan. J Dermatol 43:181-186, doi: 10.1111/1346-8138.13058
- Christiani DC, Mehta AJ, Yu CL. 2008. Genetic susceptibility to occupational exposures. Occup Environ Med 65:430-397, doi: 10.1136/oem.2007.033977
- Clarity C, Trowbridge J, Gerona R, Ona K, McMaster M, Bessonneau V, Rudel R, Buren H, Morello-Frosch R. 2020. Associations between polyfluoroalkyl substance and organophosphate flame retardant exposures and telomere length in a cohort of women firefighters and office workers in san francisco. medRxiv, doi: 10.1101/2020.11.05.20226183
- Clark JD, 3rd, Serdar B, Lee DJ, Arheart K, Wilkinson JD, Fleming LE. 2012. Exposure to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and serum inflammatory markers of cardiovascular disease. Environ Res 117:132-137, doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2012.04.012
- Copan L, Fowles J, Barreau T, McGee N. 2015. Mercury toxicity and contamination of households from the use of skin creams adulterated with mercurous chloride (calomel). Int J Environ Res Public Health 12:10943-10954, doi: 10.3390/ijerph120910943
- Davila DR, Davis DP, Campbell K, Cambier JC, Zigmond LA, Burchiel SW. 1995. Role of alterations in ca(2+)-associated signaling pathways in the immunotoxicity of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. J Toxicol Environ Health 45:101-126, doi: 10.1080/15287399509531985
- de Jongh CM, Khrenova L, Verberk MM, Calkoen F, van Dijk FJ, Voss H, John SM, Kezic S. 2008. Loss-of-function polymorphisms in the filaggrin gene are associated with an increased susceptibility to chronic irritant contact dermatitis: A case-control study. Br J Dermatol 159:621-627, doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.2008.08730.x
- de Souza MR, Kahl VFS, Rohr P, Kvitko K, Cappetta M, Lopes WM, da Silva J. 2018. Shorter telomere length and DNA hypermethylation in peripheral blood cells of coal workers. Mutat Res Genet Toxicol Environ Mutagen 836:36-41, doi: 10.1016/j.mrgentox.2018.03.009
- Dodd-Butera T, Quintana PJ, Ramirez-Zetina M, Batista-Castro AC, Sierra MM, Shaputnic C, Garcia-Castillo M, Ingmanson S, Hull S. 2017. Placental biomarkers of pah exposure and glutathione-s-transferase biotransformation enzymes in an obstetric population from tijuana, baja california, mexico. Environ Res 152:360-368, doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2016.04.019

- Doherty JA, Grieshober L, Houck JR, Barnett MJ, Tapsoba JD, Thornquist M, Wang CY, Goodman GE, Chen C. 2018. Telomere length and lung cancer mortality among heavy smokers. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 27:829-837, doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.epi-17-1183
- Eaaswarkhanth M, Xu D, Flanagan C, Rzhetskaya M, Hayes MG, Blekhman R, Jablonski NG, Gokcumen O. 2016. Atopic dermatitis susceptibility variants in filaggrin hitchhike hornerin selective sweep. Genome Biology and Evolution 8:3240-3255, doi: 10.1093/gbe/evw242
- ECHA. 2021a. Substance infocard: Benzo[a]anthracene. Available: https://www.echa.europa.eu/web/guest/substance-information/-/substanceinfo/100.000.255.
- ECHA. 2021b. Understanding reach. Available: https://echa.europa.eu/regulations/reach/understanding-reach [accessed 09-21 2021].
- ECHA. 2021c. Substance infocard: Benzo[a]pyrene. Available: https://www.echa.europa.eu/web/guest/substance-information/-/substanceinfo/100.000.026.
- Edenberg HJ. 2007. The genetics of alcohol metabolism: Role of alcohol dehydrogenase and aldehyde dehydrogenase variants. Alcohol Res Health 30:5-13,
- EFSA. 2017. Guidance on dermal absorption. EFSA Journal 15:e04873, doi: https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2017.4873
- Ehrlich M. 2009. DNA hypomethylation in cancer cells. Epigenomics 1:239-259, doi: 10.2217/epi.09.33
- Elias PM, Wakefield JS. 2011. Skin barrier function. In: Nutrition for healthy skin: Strategies for clinical and cosmetic practice, (Krutmann J, Humbert P, eds):Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 35-48.
- EU-OSHA. 2013. Priorities for occupational safety and health research in europe: 2013-2020.
- EU-OSHA. 2021. Occupational exposure limit values. Available: https://oshwiki.eu/wiki/Occupational\_exposure\_limit\_values [accessed 09-21 2021].
- Faniband M, Ekman E, Littorin M, Maxe M, Larsson E, Lindh CH. 2019. Biomarkers of exposure to pyrimethanil after controlled human experiments. J Anal Toxicol 43:277-283, doi: 10.1093/jat/bky091
- Fasanelli F, Baglietto L, Ponzi E, Guida F, Campanella G, Johansson M, Grankvist K, Johansson M, Assumma MB, Naccarati A, Chadeau-Hyam M, Ala U, Faltus C, Kaaks R, Risch A, De Stavola B, Hodge A, Giles GG, Southey MC, Relton CL, Haycock PC, Lund E, Polidoro S, Sandanger TM, Severi G, Vineis P. 2015. Hypomethylation of smoking-related genes is associated with future lung cancer in four prospective cohorts. Nat Commun 6:10192, doi: 10.1038/ncomms10192
- Fernandez K, Asad S, Taylan F, Wahlgren CF, Bilcha KD, Nordenskjöld M, Winge MCG, Bradley M. 2017. Intragenic copy number variation in the filaggrin gene in ethiopian patients with atopic dermatitis. Pediatric dermatology 34:e140-e141, doi: 10.1111/pde.13095

- Filograna R, Mennuni M, Alsina D, Larsson NG. 2021. Mitochondrial DNA copy number in human disease: The more the better? FEBS Lett 595:976-1002, doi: 10.1002/1873-3468.14021
- Foss-Skiftesvik MH, Winther L, Johnsen CR, Zachariae C, Johansen JD. 2017. Incidence of skin and respiratory diseases among danish hairdressing apprentices. Contact dermatitis 76:160-166, doi: 10.1111/cod.12744
- Freeman AF, Milner JD. 2020. The child with elevated ige and infection susceptibility. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep 20:65, doi: 10.1007/s11882-020-00964-y
- Fulton RL, Margolis DJ, Sockler PG, Mitra N, Wong XFCC, Common JE. 2021. No association of filaggrin copy number variation and atopic dermatitis risk in white and black americans. Exp Dermatol n/a, doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/exd.14449
- Furman D, Campisi J, Verdin E, Carrera-Bastos P, Targ S, Franceschi C, Ferrucci L, Gilroy DW, Fasano A, Miller GW, Miller AH, Mantovani A, Weyand CM, Barzilai N, Goronzy JJ, Rando TA, Effros RB, Lucia A, Kleinstreuer N, Slavich GM. 2019. Chronic inflammation in the etiology of disease across the life span. Nat Med 25:1822-1832, doi: 10.1038/s41591-019-0675-0
- Furue M, Tsuji G, Mitoma C, Nakahara T, Chiba T, Morino-Koga S, Uchi H. 2015. Gene regulation of filaggrin and other skin barrier proteins via aryl hydrocarbon receptor. J Dermatol Sci 80:83-88, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdermsci.2015.07.011
- Gabrielsson J, Weiner D. 2012. Non-compartmental analysis. In: Methods mol biol, Vol. 929, Part 2012/09/26, 377-389.
- Gallagher RP, Bajdik CD, Fincham S, Hill GB, Keefe AR, Coldman A, McLean DI. 1996. Chemical exposures, medical history, and risk of squamous and basal cell carcinoma of the skin. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 5:419-424,
- Gao PS, Rafaels NM, Hand T, Murray T, Boguniewicz M, Hata T, Schneider L, Hanifin JM, Gallo RL, Gao L, Beaty TH, Beck LA, Barnes KC, Leung DY. 2009. Filaggrin mutations that confer risk of atopic dermatitis confer greater risk for eczema herpeticum. J Allergy Clin Immunol 124:507-513, 513.e501-507, doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2009.07.034
- Gargano EM, Mangiatordi GF, Weber I, Goebel C, Alberga D, Nicolotti O, Ruess W, Wierlacher S. 2018. Persulfate reaction in a hair-bleaching formula: Unveiling the unconventional reactivity of 1,13-diamino-4,7,10-trioxatridecane. ChemistryOpen 7:319-322, doi: 10.1002/open.201800013
- Greider CW, Blackburn EH. 1985. Identification of a specific telomere terminal transferase activity in tetrahymena extracts. Cell 43:405-413, doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(85)90170-9
- Greisenegger E, Novak N, Maintz L, Bieber T, Zimprich F, Haubenberger D, Gleiss A, Stingl G, Kopp T, Zimprich A. 2010. Analysis of four prevalent filaggrin mutations (r501x, 2282del4, r2447x and s3247x) in austrian and german patients with atopic dermatitis. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 24:607-610, doi: 10.1111/j.1468-3083.2009.03469.x
- Gruber R, Elias PM, Crumrine D, Lin T-K, Brandner JM, Hachem J-P, Presland RB, Fleckman P, Janecke AR, Sandilands A, McLean WHI, Fritsch PO, Mildner M, Tschachler E, Schmuth M. 2011. Filaggrin genotype in ichthyosis vulgaris predicts

abnormalities in epidermal structure and function. Am J Pathol 178:2252-2263, doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2011.01.053

- Gutowska-Owsiak D, Schaupp AL, Salimi M, Taylor S, Ogg GS. 2011. Interleukin-22 downregulates filaggrin expression and affects expression of profilaggrin processing enzymes. Br J Dermatol 165:492-498, doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.2011.10400.x
- Gutowska-Owsiak D, Schaupp AL, Salimi M, Selvakumar TA, McPherson T, Taylor S, Ogg GS. 2012. Il-17 downregulates filaggrin and affects keratinocyte expression of genes associated with cellular adhesion. Exp Dermatol 21:104-110, doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0625.2011.01412.x
- Hadkhale K, Martinsen JI, Weiderpass E, Kjaerheim K, Lynge E, Sparen P, Tryggvadottir L, Pukkala E. 2016. Occupation and risk of bladder cancer in nordic countries. J Occup Environ Med 58:e301-307, doi: 10.1097/jom.000000000000803
- Hadrup N, Mielżyńska-Švach D, Kozłowska A, Campisi M, Pavanello S, Vogel U. 2019. Association between a urinary biomarker for exposure to pah and blood level of the acute phase protein serum amyloid a in coke oven workers. Environ Health 18:81, doi: 10.1186/s12940-019-0523-1
- Halling-Overgaard A-S, Kezic S, Jakasa I, Engebretsen KA, Maibach H, Thyssen JP. 2017. Skin absorption through atopic dermatitis skin: A systematic review. Br J Dermatol 177:84-106, doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/bjd.15065
- Han C, Lim YH, Hong YC. 2016. Ten-year trends in urinary concentrations of triclosan and benzophenone-3 in the general u.S. Population from 2003 to 2012. Environ Pollut 208:803-810, doi: 10.1016/j.envpol.2015.11.002
- Harling M, Schablon A, Schedlbauer G, Dulon M, Nienhaus A. 2010. Bladder cancer among hairdressers: A meta-analysis. Occup Environ Med 67:351-358, doi: 10.1136/oem.2009.050195
- Henkler F, Stolpmann K, Luch A. 2012. Exposure to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons: Bulky DNA adducts and cellular responses. Exp Suppl 101:107-131, doi: 10.1007/978-3-7643-8340-4\_5
- Henriksen L, Simonsen J, Haerskjold A, Linder M, Kieler H, Thomsen SF, Stensballe LG. 2015. Incidence rates of atopic dermatitis, asthma, and allergic rhinoconjunctivitis in danish and swedish children. J Allergy Clin Immunol 136:360-366.e362, doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2015.02.003
- Hernando B, Sanz-Page E, Pitarch G, Mahiques L, Valcuende-Cavero F, Martinez-Cadenas C. 2018. Genetic variants associated with skin photosensitivity in a southern european population from spain. Photodermatol Photoimmunol Photomed 34:415-422, doi: 10.1111/phpp.12412
- Hogstedt C, Jansson C, Hugosson M, Tinnerberg H, Gustavsson P. 2013. Cancer incidence in a cohort of swedish chimney sweeps, 1958-2006. Am J Public Health 103:1708-1714, doi: 10.2105/ajph.2012.300860
- Hoque MO, Begum S, Topaloglu O, Chatterjee A, Rosenbaum E, Van Criekinge W, Westra WH, Schoenberg M, Zahurak M, Goodman SN, Sidransky D. 2006.
  Quantitation of promoter methylation of multiple genes in urine DNA and bladder cancer detection. J Natl Cancer Inst 98:996-1004, doi: 10.1093/jnci/djj265

- Hoseini M, Nabizadeh R, Delgado-Saborit JM, Rafiee A, Yaghmaeian K, Parmy S, Faridi S, Hassanvand MS, Yunesian M, Naddafi K. 2018. Environmental and lifestyle factors affecting exposure to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in the general population in a middle eastern area. Environ Pollut 240:781-792, doi: 10.1016/j.envpol.2018.04.077
- Hossain MB, Li H, Hedmer M, Tinnerberg H, Albin M, Broberg K. 2015. Exposure to welding fumes is associated with hypomethylation of the <em&gt;f2rl3&lt;/em&gt; gene: A cardiovascular disease marker. Occup Environ Med 72:845, doi: 10.1136/oemed-2015-102884
- Hoste E, Kemperman P, Devos M, Denecker G, Kezic S, Yau N, Gilbert B, Lippens S, De Groote P, Roelandt R, Van Damme P, Gevaert K, Presland RB, Takahara H, Puppels G, Caspers P, Vandenabeele P, Declercq W. 2011. Caspase-14 is required for filaggrin degradation to natural moisturizing factors in the skin. J Invest Dermatol 131:2233-2241, doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/jid.2011.153
- Hou L, Zhang X, Dioni L, Barretta F, Dou C, Zheng Y, Hoxha M, Bertazzi PA, Schwartz J, Wu S, Wang S, Baccarelli AA. 2013. Inhalable particulate matter and mitochondrial DNA copy number in highly exposed individuals in beijing, china: A repeated-measure study. Part Fibre Toxicol 10:17, doi: 10.1186/1743-8977-10-17
- Jahed M, Ebadi N, Mivehchi M, Majidizadeh T, Shahshanipour M, Asgari M, Ghadakzadeh S, Hosseini SA. 2016. Mgmt hypermethylation and bcl-2 overexpression associated with superficial bladder cancer and recurrence. Cancer Biomark 16:627-632, doi: 10.3233/cbm-160604
- Jansson C, Alderling M, Hogstedt C, Gustavsson P. 2012. Mortality among swedish chimney sweeps (1952-2006): An extended cohort study. Occup Environ Med 69:41-47, doi: 10.1136/oem.2010.064246
- Joensen UN, Jørgensen N, Meldgaard M, Frederiksen H, Andersson A-M, Menné T, Johansen JD, Carlsen BC, Stender S, Szecsi PB, Skakkebæk NE, Rajpert-De Meyts E, Thyssen JP. 2014. Associations of filaggrin gene loss-of-function variants with urinary phthalate metabolites and testicular function in young danish men. Environ Health Perspect 122:345-350, doi: 10.1289/ehp.1306720
- Joensen UN, Jorgensen N, Thyssen JP, Petersen JH, Szecsi PB, Stender S, Andersson AM, Skakkebaek NE, Frederiksen H. 2017. Exposure to phenols, parabens and uv filters: Associations with loss-of-function mutations in the filaggrin gene in men from the general population. Environ Int 105:105-111, doi: 10.1016/j.envint.2017.05.013
- Johanson G, Rauma M. 2008. Basis for skin notation. Part 1. Dermal penetration data for substances on the swedish oel list. Arbete och Hälsa.
- Johansson GM, Jonsson BA, Axmon A, Lindh CH, Lind ML, Gustavsson M, Broberg K, Boman A, Meding B, Liden C, Albin M. 2015. Exposure of hairdressers to orthoand meta-toluidine in hair dyes. Occup Environ Med 72:57-63, doi: 10.1136/oemed-2013-101960
- Jones KS, Redmond J, Fulford AJ, Jarjou L, Zhou B, Prentice A, Schoenmakers I. 2017. Diurnal rhythms of vitamin d binding protein and total and free vitamin d metabolites. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 172:130-135, doi: 10.1016/j.jsbmb.2017.07.015

- Julander A, Boman A, Johanson G, Lidén C. 2018. 151. Occupational skin exposure to chemicals [elektronisk resurs].
- Julander A, Rietz Liljedahl E, Korres de Paula H, Assarsson E, Engfeldt M, Littorin M, Anto Shobana C, Lidén C, Broberg K. 2021. Nickel penetration into stratum corneum in *flg* null carriers – a human experimental study. Part Manuscript form, Submitted to Int J Mol Sci.
- Jung PK, Lee JH, Baek JH, Hwang J, Won JU, Kim I, Roh J. 2014. The effect of work characteristics on dermatologic symptoms in hairdressers. Ann Occup Environ Med 26:13, doi: 10.1186/2052-4374-26-13
- Kersh AE, Helms S, de la Feld S. 2018. Glove-related allergic contact dermatitis. Dermatitis 29:13-21, doi: 10.1097/der.00000000000335
- Kezic S, Kemperman PM, Koster ES, de Jongh CM, Thio HB, Campbell LE, Irvine AD, McLean WH, Puppels GJ, Caspers PJ. 2008. Loss-of-function mutations in the filaggrin gene lead to reduced level of natural moisturizing factor in the stratum corneum. J Invest Dermatol 128:2117-2119, doi: 10.1038/jid.2008.29
- Kim KH, Kabir E, Jahan SA. 2017. Exposure to pesticides and the associated human health effects. Sci Total Environ 575:525-535, doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.09.009
- Kittas C, Katsoulas N, Bartzanas T, Kacira M, Boulard T. Exposure of greenhouse workers to pesticides. 2014, International Society for Horticultural Science (ISHS), Leuven, Belgium, 1133-1138.
- Kneip C, Schmidt B, Seegebarth A, Weickmann S, Fleischhacker M, Liebenberg V, Field JK, Dietrich D. 2011. Shox2 DNA methylation is a biomarker for the diagnosis of lung cancer in plasma. J Thorac Oncol 6:1632-1638, doi: 10.1097/JTO.0b013e318220ef9a
- Kneuer C, Charistou A, Craig P, Eleftheriadou D, Engel N, Kjaerstad M, Krishnan S, Laskari V, Machera K, Nikolopoulou D, Pieper C, Schoen E, Spilioti E, Buist H. 2018. Applicability of in silico tools for the prediction of dermal absorption for pesticides. EFSA Support Publ 15:1493E, doi: 10.2903/sp.efsa.2018.EN-1493
- Kypriotou M, Huber M, Hohl D. 2012. The human epidermal differentiation complex: Cornified envelope precursors, s100 proteins and the 'fused genes' family. Exp Dermatol 21:643-649, doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0625.2012.01472.x
- Landeck L, Jakasa I, Dapic I, Lutter R, Thyssen JP, Skov L, Braun A, Schön MP, John SM, Kezic S, Brans R. 2016. The effect of epidermal levels of urocanic acid on 25hydroxyvitamin d synthesis and inflammatory mediators upon narrowband uvb irradiation. Photodermatol Photoimmunol Photomed 32:214-223, doi: 10.1111/phpp.12249
- Laupeze B, Amiot L, Sparfel L, Le Ferrec E, Fauchet R, Fardel O. 2002. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons affect functional differentiation and maturation of human monocyte-derived dendritic cells. J Immunol 168:2652-2658, doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.168.6.2652
- Law RM, Ngo MA, Maibach HI. 2020. Twenty clinically pertinent factors/observations for percutaneous absorption in humans. American Journal of Clinical Dermatology 21:85-95, doi: 10.1007/s40257-019-00480-4

- Lawless C, Greaves L, Reeve AK, Turnbull DM, Vincent AE. 2020. The rise and rise of mitochondrial DNA mutations. Open Biology 10:200061, doi: doi:10.1098/rsob.200061
- Levin JO. 1995. First international workshop on hydroxypyrene as a biomarker for pah exposure in man summary and conclusions. Science of The Total Environment 163:165-168, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/0048-9697(95)04501-Q
- Li D, Suh S. 2019. Health risks of chemicals in consumer products: A review. Environ Int 123:580-587, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2018.12.033
- Li H, Engstrom K, Vahter M, Broberg K. 2012. Arsenic exposure through drinking water is associated with longer telomeres in peripheral blood. Chem Res Toxicol 25:2333-2339, doi: 10.1021/tx300222t
- Li H, Akerman G, Liden C, Alhamdow A, Wojdacz TK, Broberg K, Albin M. 2016. Alterations of telomere length and DNA methylation in hairdressers: A crosssectional study. Environ Mol Mutagen 57:159-167, doi: 10.1002/em.21991
- Li X, Sundquist J, Sundquist K. 2008. Socioeconomic and occupational groups and risk of asthma in sweden. Occup Med (Lond) 58:161-168, doi: 10.1093/occmed/kqn009
- Lim YL, Goon A. 2007. Occupational skin diseases in singapore 2003-2004: An epidemiologic update. Contact dermatitis 56:157-159, doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0536.2007.01032.x
- Lind ML, Albin M, Brisman J, Kronholm Diab K, Lillienberg L, Mikoczy Z, Nielsen J, Rylander L, Toren K, Meding B. 2007. Incidence of hand eczema in female swedish hairdressers. Occup Environ Med 64:191-195, doi: 10.1136/oem.2005.026211
- Lotte C, Rougier A, Wilson DR, Maibach HI. 1987. In vivo relationship between transepidermal water loss and percutaneous penetration of some organic compounds in man: Effect of anatomic site. Arch Dermatol Res 279:351-356, doi: 10.1007/BF00431230
- Luu HN, Huang JY, Wang R, Adams-Haduch J, Jin A, Koh WP, Yuan JM. 2019a. Association between leukocyte telomere length and the risk of pancreatic cancer: Findings from a prospective study. PloS one 14:e0221697, doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0221697
- Luu HN, Qi M, Wang R, Adams-Haduch J, Miljkovic I, Opresko PL, Jin A, Koh WP, Yuan JM. 2019b. Association between leukocyte telomere length and colorectal cancer risk in the singapore chinese health study. Clin Transl Gastroenterol 10:1-9, doi: 10.14309/ctg.00000000000043
- Luukkonen TM, Kiiski V, Ahola M, Mandelin J, Virtanen H, Poyhonen M, Kivirikko S, Surakka I, Reitamo S, Palotie A, Heliovaara M, Jakkula E, Remitz A. 2017. The value of flg null mutations in predicting treatment response in atopic dermatitis: An observational study in finnish patients. Acta Derm Venereol 97:456-463, doi: 10.2340/00015555-2578
- Lyons G, Roberts H, Palmer A, Matheson M, Nixon R. 2013. Hairdressers presenting to an occupational dermatology clinic in melbourne, australia. Contact dermatitis 68:300-306, doi: 10.1111/cod.12016
- Ma H, Zhou Z, Wei S, Liu Z, Pooley KA, Dunning AM, Svenson U, Roos G, Hosgood HD, 3rd, Shen M, Wei Q. 2011. Shortened telomere length is associated with

increased risk of cancer: A meta-analysis. PloS one 6:e20466, doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0020466

- Ma J, Zhou Y, Liu Y, Xiao L, Cen X, Li W, Guo Y, Kim M, Yuan J, Chen W. 2019. Association between urinary polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon metabolites and dyslipidemias in the chinese general population: A cross-sectional study. Environ Pollut 245:89-97, doi: 10.1016/j.envpol.2018.10.134
- Marenholz I, Grosche S, Kalb B, Ruschendorf F, Blumchen K, Schlags R, Harandi N, Price M, Hansen G, Seidenberg J, Roblitz H, Yurek S, Tschirner S, Hong X, Wang X, Homuth G, Schmidt CO, Nothen MM, Hubner N, Niggemann B, Beyer K, Lee YA. 2017. Genome-wide association study identifies the serpinb gene cluster as a susceptibility locus for food allergy. Nat Commun 8:1056, doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-01220-0
- Margolis DJ, Mitra N, Berna R, Hoffstad O, Kim BS, Yan A, Zaenglein AL, Fuxench ZC, Quiggle AM, de Guzman Strong C, Wong XFCC, Common JE. 2020. Associating filaggrin copy number variation and atopic dermatitis in african-americans: Challenges and opportunities. J Dermatol Sci 98:58-60, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdermsci.2020.01.014
- McAleer MA, Irvine AD. 2013. The multifunctional role of filaggrin in allergic skin disease. J Allergy Clin Immunol 131:280-291, doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2012.12.668
- McNally K, Gorce J-P, Goede HA, Schinkel J, Warren N. 2019. Calibration of the dermal advanced reach tool (dart) mechanistic model. Annals of Work Exposures and Health 63:637-650, doi: 10.1093/annweh/wxz027
- Meyer UA, Zanger UM. 1997. Molecular mechanisms of genetic polymorphisms of drug metabolism. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 37:269-296, doi: 10.1146/annurev.pharmtox.37.1.269
- Michaels AS, Chandrasekaran SK, Shaw JE. 1975. Drug permeation through human skin: Theory and invitro experimental measurement. AIChE J 21:985-996, doi: 10.1002/aic.690210522
- Molin S, Merl J, Dietrich KA, Regauer M, Flaig M, Letulé V, Saucke T, Herzinger T, Ruzicka T, Hauck SM. 2015. The hand eczema proteome: Imbalance of epidermal barrier proteins. Br J Dermatol 172:994-1001, doi: 10.1111/bjd.13418
- Moorthy B, Chu C, Carlin DJ. 2015. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons: From metabolism to lung cancer. Toxicol Sci 145:5-15, doi: 10.1093/toxsci/kfv040
- Morrison GC, Bekö G, Weschler CJ, Schripp T, Salthammer T, Hill J, Andersson AM, Toftum J, Clausen G, Frederiksen H. 2017. Dermal uptake of benzophenone-3 from clothing. Environ Sci Technol 51:11371-11379, doi: 10.1021/acs.est.7b02623
- Moscato G, Pignatti P, Yacoub MR, Romano C, Spezia S, Perfetti L. 2005. Occupational asthma and occupational rhinitis in hairdressers. Chest 128:3590-3598, doi: 10.1378/chest.128.5.3590
- Muraki K, Nyhan K, Han L, Murnane JP. 2012. Mechanisms of telomere loss and their consequences for chromosome instability. Front Oncol 2:135-135, doi: 10.3389/fonc.2012.00135

- Nemanic MK, Whitney J, Arnaud S, Herbert S, Elias PM. 1983. Vitamin d3 production by cultured human keratinocytes and fibroblasts. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 115:444-450, doi: 10.1016/s0006-291x(83)80164-8
- Nettis E, Colanardi MC, Soccio AL, Ferrannini A, Tursi A. 2002. Occupational irritant and allergic contact dermatitis among healthcare workers. Contact dermatitis 46:101-107, doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0536.2002.460208.x
- Ngo MA, O'Malley M, Maibach HI. 2010. Percutaneous absorption and exposure assessment of pesticides. J Appl Toxicol 30:91-114, doi: 10.1002/jat.1505
- Nielsen JB, Nielsen F, Sorensen JA. 2007. Defense against dermal exposures is only skin deep: Significantly increased penetration through slightly damaged skin. Arch Dermatol Res 299:423-431, doi: 10.1007/s00403-007-0788-z
- Noh M, Yeo H, Ko J, Kim HK, Lee C-H. 2010. Map17 is associated with the t-helper cell cytokine-induced down-regulation of filaggrin transcription in human keratinocytes. Exp Dermatol 19:355-362, doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0625.2009.00902.x
- Nordberg M, Duffus JH, Templeton DM. 2007. Explanatory dictionary of key terms in toxicology (iupac recommendations 2007). Pure and Applied Chemistry 79:1583-1633, doi: doi:10.1351/pac200779091583
- Norén E, Lindh C, Rylander L, Glynn A, Axelsson J, Littorin M, Faniband M, Larsson E, Nielsen C. 2020. Concentrations and temporal trends in pesticide biomarkers in urine of swedish adolescents, 2000-2017. J Expo Sci Environ Epidemiol 30:756-767, doi: 10.1038/s41370-020-0212-8
- Novak N, Baurecht H, Schäfer T, Rodriguez E, Wagenpfeil S, Klopp N, Heinrich J, Behrendt H, Ring J, Wichmann E, Illig T, Weidinger S. 2008. Loss-of-function mutations in the filaggrin gene and allergic contact sensitization to nickel. J Invest Dermatol 128:1430-1435, doi: https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.jid.5701190
- OMIM. 2021. \*135940 filaggrin; flg. Available: https://www.omim.org/entry/135940?search=flg&highlight=flg [accessed 09-21 2021].
- Orisakwe OE, Frazzoli C, Ilo CE, Oritsemuelebi B. 2019. Public health burden of e-waste in africa. J Health Pollut 9:190610, doi: 10.5696/2156-9614-9.22.190610
- Ott M, Gogvadze V, Orrenius S, Zhivotovsky B. 2007. Mitochondria, oxidative stress and cell death. Apoptosis 12:913-922, doi: 10.1007/s10495-007-0756-2
- Palmer CN, Irvine AD, Terron-Kwiatkowski A, Zhao Y, Liao H, Lee SP, Goudie DR, Sandilands A, Campbell LE, Smith FJ, O'Regan GM, Watson RM, Cecil JE, Bale SJ, Compton JG, DiGiovanna JJ, Fleckman P, Lewis-Jones S, Arseculeratne G, Sergeant A, Munro CS, El Houate B, McElreavey K, Halkjaer LB, Bisgaard H, Mukhopadhyay S, McLean WH. 2006. Common loss-of-function variants of the epidermal barrier protein filaggrin are a major predisposing factor for atopic dermatitis. Nat Genet 38:441-446, doi: 10.1038/ng1767
- Palmer CNA, Ismail T, Lee SP, Terron-Kwiatkowski A, Zhao Y, Liao H, Smith FJD, McLean WHI, Mukhopadhyay S. 2007. Filaggrin null mutations are associated with increased asthma severity in children and young adults. J Allergy Clin Immunol 120:64-68, doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2007.04.001

- Park J, Jekarl DW, Kim Y, Kim J, Kim M, Park YM. 2015. Novel flg null mutations in korean patients with atopic dermatitis and comparison of the mutational spectra in asian populations. The Journal of Dermatology 42:867-873, doi: 10.1111/1346-8138.12935
- Pavanello S, Pesatori AC, Dioni L, Hoxha M, Bollati V, Siwinska E, Mielzynska D, Bolognesi C, Bertazzi PA, Baccarelli A. 2010. Shorter telomere length in peripheral blood lymphocytes of workers exposed to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. Carcinogenesis 31:216-221, doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgp278
- Pollaris L, Van Den Broucke S, Decaesteker T, Cremer J, Seys S, Devos FC, Provoost S, Maes T, Verbeken E, Vande Velde G, Nemery B, Hoet PHM, Vanoirbeek JAJ. 2019. Dermal exposure determines the outcome of repeated airway exposure in a long-term chemical-induced asthma-like mouse model. Toxicology 421:84-92, doi: 10.1016/j.tox.2019.05.001
- Presland RB, Haydock PV, Fleckman P, Nirunsuksiri W, Dale BA. 1992. Characterization of the human epidermal profilaggrin gene. Genomic organization and identification of an s-100-like calcium binding domain at the amino terminus. The Journal of biological chemistry 267:23772-23781,
- Quiggle AM, Goodwin ZA, Marfatia TR, Kumar MG, Ciliberto H, Bayliss SJ, de Guzman Strong C. 2015. Low filaggrin monomer repeats in african american pediatric patients with moderate to severe atopic dermatitis. JAMA Dermatol 151:557-559, doi: 10.1001/jamadermatol.2014.4916
- Ramsing DW, Agner T. 1996. Effect of glove occlusion on human skin (ii). Long-term experimental exposure. Contact dermatitis 34:258-262, doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0536.1996.tb02196.x
- Rawlings AV, Harding CR. 2004. Moisturization and skin barrier function. Dermatol Ther 17 Suppl 1:43-48,
- Reichert S, Stier A. 2017. Does oxidative stress shorten telomeres in vivo? A review. Biol Lett 13, doi: 10.1098/rsbl.2017.0463
- Reinius LE, Acevedo N, Joerink M, Pershagen G, Dahlén SE, Greco D, Söderhäll C, Scheynius A, Kere J. 2012. Differential DNA methylation in purified human blood cells: Implications for cell lineage and studies on disease susceptibility. PloS one 7:e41361, doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0041361
- Reuter S, Gupta SC, Chaturvedi MM, Aggarwal BB. 2010. Oxidative stress, inflammation, and cancer: How are they linked? Free Radic Biol Med 49:1603-1616, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2010.09.006
- Richeldi L, Sorrentino R, Saltini C. 1993. Hla-dpb1 glutamate 69: A genetic marker of beryllium disease. Science 262:242,
- Ross-Hansen K, Menné T, Johansen JD, Carlsen BC, Linneberg A, Nielsen NH, Stender S, Meldgaard M, Szecsi PB, Thyssen JP. 2011. Nickel reactivity and filaggrin null mutations--evaluation of the filaggrin bypass theory in a general population. Contact dermatitis 64:24-31, doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0536.2010.01815.x
- Sakabe J, Yamamoto M, Hirakawa S, Motoyama A, Ohta I, Tatsuno K, Ito T, Kabashima K, Hibino T, Tokura Y. 2013. Kallikrein-related peptidase 5 functions in proteolytic

processing of profilaggrin in cultured human keratinocytes. The Journal of biological chemistry 288:17179-17189, doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113.476820

- Saladin KS. 2010. Anatomy & physiology : The unity of form and function. 5. ed.. ed:McGraw-Hill Higher Education.
- Samavat H, Xun X, Jin A, Wang R, Koh WP, Yuan JM. 2019. Association between prediagnostic leukocyte telomere length and breast cancer risk: The singapore chinese health study. Breast Cancer Res 21:50, doi: 10.1186/s13058-019-1133-0
- Sandilands A, Terron-Kwiatkowski A, Hull PR, O'Regan GM, Clayton TH, Watson RM, Carrick T, Evans AT, Liao H, Zhao Y, Campbell LE, Schmuth M, Gruber R, Janecke AR, Elias PM, van Steensel MA, Nagtzaam I, van Geel M, Steijlen PM, Munro CS, Bradley DG, Palmer CN, Smith FJ, McLean WH, Irvine AD. 2007. Comprehensive analysis of the gene encoding filaggrin uncovers prevalent and rare mutations in ichthyosis vulgaris and atopic eczema. Nat Genet 39:650-654, doi: 10.1038/ng2020
- Sandilands A, Sutherland C, Irvine AD, McLean WH. 2009. Filaggrin in the frontline: Role in skin barrier function and disease. J Cell Sci 122:1285-1294, doi: 10.1242/jcs.033969
- Savage SA, Gadalla SM, Chanock SJ. 2013. The long and short of telomeres and cancer association studies. J Natl Cancer Inst 105:448-449, doi: 10.1093/jnci/djt041
- SCB. 2021a. Anställda 16-64 år i riket efter yrke (3-siffrig ssyk 96), födelseregion och kön. År 2001 - 2013. Available: https://www.statistikdatabasen.scb.se/pxweb/sv/ssd/START\_AM\_AM0208\_AM 0208B/YREG13B/ [accessed 10-13 2021].
- SCB. 2021b. Egna företagare 16+ (dagbefolkning) efter region, yrke, kön och år. Available: https://www.statistikdatabasen.scb.se/pxweb/sv/ssd/START\_AM\_AM0208\_AM 0208S/YREG02EGF/table/tableViewLayout1/ [accessed 10-13 2021].
- Sena JS, Girao RJ, Carvalho SM, Tavares RM, Fonseca FL, Silva PB, Barbosa MC. 2016. Occupational skin cancer: Systematic review. Revista da Associacao Medica Brasileira (1992) 62:280-286, doi: 10.1590/1806-9282.62.03.280
- Smith FJ, Irvine AD, Terron-Kwiatkowski A, Sandilands A, Campbell LE, Zhao Y, Liao H, Evans AT, Goudie DR, Lewis-Jones S, Arseculeratne G, Munro CS, Sergeant A, O'Regan G, Bale SJ, Compton JG, DiGiovanna JJ, Presland RB, Fleckman P, McLean WH. 2006. Loss-of-function mutations in the gene encoding filaggrin cause ichthyosis vulgaris. Nat Genet 38:337-342, doi: 10.1038/ng1743
- Srinivas N, Rachakonda S, Hielscher T, Calderazzo S, Rudnai P, Gurzau E, Koppova K, Fletcher T, Kumar R. 2019. Telomere length, arsenic exposure and risk of basal cell carcinoma of skin. Carcinogenesis 40:715-723, doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgz059
- SSR. 2021. Hur många sotare finns det i sverige? Available: https://www.sverigessotare.se/sotarjobb/.
- Susitaival P, Flyvholm M-A, Meding B, Kanerva L, Lindberg M, Svensson Å, Ólafsson JH. 2003. Nordic occupational skin questionnaire (nosq-2002): A new tool for surveying occupational skin diseases and exposure. Contact dermatitis 49:70-76, doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0105-1873.2003.00159.x

- Tan H-TT, Ellis JA, Koplin JJ, Matheson MC, Gurrin LC, Lowe AJ, Martin PE, Dang TD, Wake M, Tang MLK, Ponsonby A-L, Dharmage SC, Allen KJ. 2012. Filaggrin lossof-function mutations do not predict food allergy over and above the risk of food sensitization among infants. J Allergy Clin Immunol 130:1211-1213.e1213, doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2012.07.022
- Tan YT, McPherson GE, Peretz I, Berkovic SF, Wilson SJ. 2014. The genetic basis of music ability. Frontiers in Psychology 5, doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00658
- TheHumanProteinAtlas. 2021. Flg. Available: https://www.proteinatlas.org/ENSG00000143631-FLG [accessed 08-26 2021].
- Theodosiou G, Montgomery S, Metsini A, Dalgard FJ, Svensson A, Kobyletzki LB. 2019. Burden of atopic dermatitis in swedish adults: A population-based study. Acta Derm Venereol 99:964-970, doi: 10.2340/00015555-3257
- Thompson PA, Khatami M, Baglole CJ, Sun J, Harris SA, Moon EY, Al-Mulla F, Al-Temaimi R, Brown DG, Colacci A, Mondello C, Raju J, Ryan EP, Woodrick J, Scovassi AI, Singh N, Vaccari M, Roy R, Forte S, Memeo L, Salem HK, Amedei A, Hamid RA, Lowe L, Guarnieri T, Bisson WH. 2015. Environmental immune disruptors, inflammation and cancer risk. Carcinogenesis 36 Suppl 1:S232-253, doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgv038
- Thyssen JP, Johansen JD, Linneberg A, Menne T, Nielsen NH, Meldgaard M, Szecsi PB, Stender S, Carlsen BC. 2010. The association between null mutations in the filaggrin gene and contact sensitization to nickel and other chemicals in the general population. Br J Dermatol 162:1278-1285, doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.2010.09708.x
- Thyssen JP, Thuesen B, Huth C, Standl M, Carson CG, Heinrich J, Kramer U, Kratzsch J, Berg ND, Menne T, Johansen JD, Carlsen BC, Schwab S, Thorand B, Munk M, Wallaschofski H, Heickendorff L, Meldgaard M, Szecsi PB, Stender S, Bonnelykke K, Weidinger S, Bisgaard H, Linneberg A. 2012. Skin barrier abnormality caused by filaggrin (flg) mutations is associated with increased serum 25-hydroxyvitamin d concentrations. J Allergy Clin Immunol 130:1204-1207.e1202, doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2012.06.046
- Thyssen JP, Bikle DD, Elias PM. 2014. Evidence that loss-of-function filaggrin gene mutations evolved in northern europeans to favor intracutaneous vitamin d3 production. Evol Biol 41:388-396, doi: 10.1007/s11692-014-9282-7
- Thyssen JP, Elias PM. 2017. It remains unknown whether filaggrin gene mutations evolved to increase cutaneous synthesis of vitamin d. Genome Biology and Evolution 9:900-901, doi: 10.1093/gbe/evx049
- Tsuji G, Hashimoto-Hachiya A, Kiyomatsu-Oda M, Takemura M, Ohno F, Ito T, Morino-Koga S, Mitoma C, Nakahara T, Uchi H, Furue M. 2017. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor activation restores filaggrin expression via ovol1 in atopic dermatitis. Cell Death Dis 8:e2931, doi: 10.1038/cddis.2017.322
- UCSC. 2021. Ucsc genome browser on human; chr1:152,302,165-152,325,239. Available: http://genome-euro.ucsc.edu/cgibin/hgTracks?db=hg38&lastVirtModeType=default&lastVirtModeExtraState=&virt ModeType=default&virtMode=0&nonVirtPosition=&position=chr1%3A152302165 %2D152325239&hgsid=274934902\_n5eD0E97Xt4hNy2i7zdv9wKaQARX [accessed 09-21 2021].

- van der Plaat DA, de Jong K, de Vries M, van Diemen CC, Nedeljković I, Amin N, Kromhout H, Vermeulen R, Postma DS, van Duijn CM, Boezen HM, Vonk JM. 2018. Occupational exposure to pesticides is associated with differential DNA methylation. Occup Environ Med 75:427, doi: 10.1136/oemed-2017-104787
- van Smeden J, Bouwstra JA. 2016. Stratum corneum lipids: Their role for the skin barrier function in healthy subjects and atopic dermatitis patients. Curr Probl Dermatol 49:8-26, doi: 10.1159/000441540
- van Wendel de Joode B, Mora AM, Cordoba L, Cano JC, Quesada R, Faniband M, Wesseling C, Ruepert C, Oberg M, Eskenazi B, Mergler D, Lindh CH. 2014. Aerial application of mancozeb and urinary ethylene thiourea (etu) concentrations among pregnant women in costa rica: The infants' environmental health study (isa). Environ Health Perspect 122:1321-1328, doi: 10.1289/ehp.1307679
- Varbo A, Nordestgaard BG, Benn M. 2017. Filaggrin loss-of-function mutations as risk factors for ischemic stroke in the general population. J Thromb Haemost 15:624-635, doi: 10.1111/jth.13644
- Warshaw EM, Kwon GP, Mathias CG, Maibach HI, Fowler JF, Jr., Belsito DV, Sasseville D, Zug KA, Taylor JS, Fransway AF, Deleo VA, Marks JG, Jr., Pratt MD, Storrs FJ, Zirwas MJ, Dekoven JG. 2013. Occupationally related contact dermatitis in north american food service workers referred for patch testing, 1994 to 2010. Dermatitis 24:22-28, doi: 10.1097/DER.0b013e31827b14e1
- Weischer M, Nordestgaard BG, Cawthon RM, Freiberg JJ, Tybjærg-Hansen A, Bojesen SE. 2013. Short telomere length, cancer survival, and cancer risk in 47102 individuals. J Natl Cancer Inst 105:459-468, doi: 10.1093/jnci/djt016
- Venkataraman D, Soto-Ramírez N, Kurukulaaratchy RJ, Holloway JW, Karmaus W, Ewart SL, Arshad SH, Erlewyn-Lajeunesse M. 2014. Filaggrin loss-of-function mutations are associated with food allergy in childhood and adolescence. J Allergy Clin Immunol 134:876-882.e874, doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2014.07.033
- Vester L, Thyssen JP, Menne T, Johansen JD. 2012. Occupational food-related hand dermatoses seen over a 10-year period. Contact dermatitis 66:264-270, doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0536.2011.02048.x
- WHO. 2014. Environmental health criteria 242: Dermal exposure. International Programme On Chemical Safety 242,
- Viau C, Carrier G, Vyskocil A, Dodd C. 1995. Urinary excretion kinetics of 1hydroxypyrene in volunteers exposed to pyrene by the oral and dermal route. Sci Total Environ 163:179-186, doi: 10.1016/0048-9697(95)04494-1
- Visser MJ, Landeck L, Campbell LE, McLean WHI, Weidinger S, Calkoen F, John SM, Kezic S. 2013. Impact of atopic dermatitis and loss-of-function mutations in the filaggrin gene on the development of occupational irritant contact dermatitis. Br J Dermatol 168:326-332, doi: 10.1111/bjd.12083
- Volz A, Korge BP, Compton JG, Ziegler A, Steinert PM, Mischke D. 1993. Physical mapping of a functional cluster of epidermal differentiation genes on chromosome 1q21. Genomics 18:92-99, doi: https://doi.org/10.1006/geno.1993.1430
- von Zglinicki T. 2002. Oxidative stress shortens telomeres. Trends in Biochemical Sciences 27:339-344, doi: 10.1016/S0968-0004(02)02110-2

- Vriens A, Nawrot TS, Janssen BG, Baeyens W, Bruckers L, Covaci A, De Craemer S, De Henauw S, Den Hond E, Loots I, Nelen V, Schettgen T, Schoeters G, Martens DS, Plusquin M. 2019. Exposure to environmental pollutants and their association with biomarkers of aging: A multipollutant approach. Environ Sci Technol 53:5966-5976, doi: 10.1021/acs.est.8b07141
- Xu Y, Li H, Hedmer M, Hossain MB, Tinnerberg H, Broberg K, Albin M. 2017. Occupational exposure to particles and mitochondrial DNA - relevance for blood pressure. Environ Health 16:22, doi: 10.1186/s12940-017-0234-4
- Xu Y, Lindh CH, Jonsson BAG, Broberg K, Albin M. 2018. Occupational exposure to asphalt mixture during road paving is related to increased mitochondria DNA copy number: A cross-sectional study. Environ Health 17:29, doi: 10.1186/s12940-018-0375-0
- Yuan JM, Beckman KB, Wang R, Bull C, Adams-Haduch J, Huang JY, Jin A, Opresko P, Newman AB, Zheng YL, Fenech M, Koh WP. 2018. Leukocyte telomere length in relation to risk of lung adenocarcinoma incidence: Findings from the singapore chinese health study. Int J Cancer 142:2234-2243, doi: 10.1002/ijc.31251
- Zhang X, Lin S, Funk WE, Hou L. 2013. Environmental and occupational exposure to chemicals and telomere length in human studies. Postgrad Med J 89:722-728, doi: 10.1136/postgradmedj-2012-101350rep
- Zouboulis CC, Chen WC, Thornton MJ, Qin K, Rosenfield R. 2007. Sexual hormones in human skin. Horm Metab Res 39:85-95, doi: 10.1055/s-2007-961807
- Åkerlund E, Islam MS, McCarrick S, Alfaro-Moreno E, Karlsson HL. 2019. Inflammation and (secondary) genotoxicity of ni and nio nanoparticles. Nanotoxicology 13:1060-1072, doi: 10.1080/17435390.2019.1640908